
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Wednesday 13 January 2016 

7.00 pm 
Ground Floor Meeting Room G02A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

Membership Reserves 
Councillor Gavin Edwards (Chair) 
Councillor Rosie Shimell (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai 
Councillor Jasmine Ali 
Councillor Maisie Anderson 
Councillor Catherine Dale 
Councillor Paul Fleming 
Councillor Tom Flynn 
Councillor Ben Johnson 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
Councillor Johnson Situ 
 

Councillor Evelyn Akoto 
Councillor Helen Dennis 
Councillor Nick Dolezal 
Councillor Eleanor Kerslake 
Councillor Sunny Lambe 
Councillor Maria Linforth-Hall 
Councillor Adele Morris 
Councillor David Noakes 
Councillor Martin Seaton 
Councillor Bill Williams 
 

Education representatives  
Martin Brecknell, Church of England Diocese 
Lynette Murphy-O'Dwyer, Archdiocese of Southwark 
Abdul Raheem Musa, Parent Governor Representative 
George Ogbonna, Parent Governor Representtaive 
 
 

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 
Access to information 

You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as well as 
the background documents used in the preparation of these reports. 

Babysitting/Carers allowances 

If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, an elderly 
dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this meeting, you may claim an 
allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form at the meeting. 

Access 

The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building access, 
translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site: 
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below. 

Contact Shelley Burke on 020 7525 7102 or email: Shelley.burke@southwark.gov.uk   
 
 

Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting 
Eleanor Kelly 
Chief Executive 
Date: 5 January 2016 
 

 
 

Open Agenda



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 

Wednesday 13 January 2016 
7.00 pm 

Ground Floor Meeting Room G02A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 
 
 

Order of Business 
 

 
Item No. Title Page No. 
 

1. APOLOGIES 
 

 

 PART A - OPEN BUSINESS 
 

 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT 

 

 

 In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear working days of the meeting. 
 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 

 

 Members to declare any interests and dispensations in respect of any item 
of business to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

4. MINUTES 
 

1 - 4 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the open section of the 
meeting held on Monday 30th November 2015 
 

 

5. INTERVIEW - COUNCILLOR FIONA COLLEY  CABINET MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE, MODERNISATION AND PERFORMANCE 

 

 

6. INTERVIEW - COUNCILLOR RADHA BURGESS DEPUTY  CABINET 
MEMBER FOR DIGITAL STRATEGY 

 

 

7. SOUTHWARK PLAN 
 

5 - 110 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING. 
 

 

 PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS  



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

 

8. NON-RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY REVIEW 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY CLOSED ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START 
OF THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT. 
 

 

  
 

 

 
Date:  5 January 2016 
 



1 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 30 November 2015 
 

 
 
 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Monday 30 November 2015 
at 7.00 pm at Ground Floor Meeting Room G02A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 
2QH  
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Gavin Edwards (Chair) 

Councillor Rosie Shimell 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai 
Councillor Jasmine Ali 
Councillor Maisie Anderson 
Councillor Tom Flynn 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
Councillor Johnson Situ 
 
 

EDUCATION 
REPRESENTATIVES: 

Martin Brecknell, Church of England Diocese 
 

  
OTHER MEMBERS 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor Richard Livingstone 
 

OFFICER 
SUPPORT: 

Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny  
Norman Coombe, Legal Advisor 
Fitzroy Williams, Scrutiny Officer   
Bruce Glockling, Head of Regeneration 
Dave Markham, Director of Asset Management 
 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 

 1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Dale, Fleming and Johnson 
 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT  
 

 2.1 There were none 
 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS  
 

 3.1 There were no disclosures of interests or dispensations. 
 

1
Agenda Item 4



2 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 30 November 2015 
 

4. MINUTES  
 

 The minutes of 17th September OSC were amended to correctly reflect the committee’s 
recommendation on item 4.6 as follows: 
 
“That the Cabinet member give consideration and evidence in regards to giving exemption 
or offering a number of collections free of charges within 3 months to the poorest and most 
vulnerable residents” 
 
The minutes of 20th October OSC were agreed as an accurate record of the meeting  
 
Councillor Al-Samerai asked the committee to follow up on its recommendations on the 
South Dock Marina mooring fees.  Allen Atwell from the berth holders association was also 
present. There had been a delay in arranging the meetings between the council and the 
berth holders, and this meant the discussion had not taken place before the new fees were 
implemented.   Mr Atwell asked the committee to recommend a further brief delay in 
implementing the fees while the consultation and work on improved bench marking takes 
place and a new cost plus model could be designed which might potentially cover the 
boatyard as well as the moorings.   
 
The committee agreed to return to this matter as part of Cllr Merrill’s session at budget 
scrutiny – 2nd February 2016.     
 

 Video Link to Apologies/Minutes/Berth Holders - Update 
 

 https://bambuser.com/v/5956138 
 
https://bambuser.com/v/5956310 
 
 

5. RENTS ON COMMERCIAL PREMISES  
 

 Walter Akers and Manpreet Mahal (auditors from RSM UK) attended the committee to 
provide an update on this piece of work, which would be reported to OSC’s January 
meeting.   
 

 Video Link to Opening of Meeting and Rents on Commercial Premises 
 

 https://bambuser.com/v/5956138 
 
 

6. UPDATE AND OVERVIEW REPORT ON THE DELIVERY OF 11,000 COUNCIL HOMES  
 

 Councillor Richard Livingstone introduced the report.  He was accompanied by Bruce 
Glockling, Head of Regeneration Capital Works, and Dave Markham, Director of Asset 
Management  
 

2



3 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 30 November 2015 
 

The chair of Mayflower Tenants & Residents Association, Sue Challis,  made 
representation to the committee about the way in which their community hall had been 
selected to include in a proposed housing infill scheme.  They did not feel that the 
communication had been adequate and had a series of questions for the cabinet member 
about how the process had been managed. They wanted to know how the hall could be 
removed from the list of schemes. 
 
Councillor Livingstone apologised for the poor communication.  He accepted that it needed 
to be better managed with a clear process and trail so it was easier to track progress on 
consultation.  He felt that a stronger process was now in place, amd specifically that 
discussions with TRAs and ward councillors would in future be complete before schemes 
were published on lists. 
 
Recommendations:   
 

• OSC should be provided with an explanation as to why the Mayflower Community 
Hall survey had not been made available to residents and councillors 

• OSC and the TRA should be provided with the minutes of the June/July 2015 
officer/member meetings about the proposal to develop the hall 

• The TRA should be provided with a clear explanation of the consultation process 
• That in the light of the concerns expressed about the accuracy of the 2012 survey 

of TRA halls a commitment is made to carry out a new survey of any TRA hall 
being considered for demolition under the 11000 council homes programme before 
any decision 

• That the cabinet member’s apology to Mayflower TRA should be put in writing   
 

 Video Link to Delivery of 11,000 Council Homes 
 

 https://bambuser.com/v/5956173 
 

7. RIGHT TO BUY - UPDATE  
 

 Councillor Edwards presented a draft report which he had worked on with Cllrs Flynn and 
Kerslake.  He would re-circulate over the Christmas break for final comments with the aim 
of getting to January cabinet 
 

 Video Link to Right to Buy 
 

 https://bambuser.com/v/5956259 
 
 

8. WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 Councillors Lury, Ali and Flynn updated OSC on the progress of their work.  Councillor Al-
Samerai asked that the OSC work programme should include follow up on call-ins and the 
Southwark Plan.  Councillor Edwards said that OSC would do further work on national 
minimum wage enforcement – aiming to bring a report to the committee’s April meeting.  

3



4 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee - Monday 30 November 2015 
 

The topic possibly should be broadened out to low pay and the living wage.   
 

 Video Link to Work Programme of Committee and Sub-Committees 
 

 https://bambuser.com/v/5956280 
 

  
 
The meeting ended at 9.55 pm 
 

 
 

4



Item No.  
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
13 January 2016 
 

Meeting Name: 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Report title: New Southwark Plan – Preferred Option 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 

All 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Mark Williams, Regeneration and New Homes  
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC): 
 
1. Notes the preparation and consultation process for the delivery and adoption of New 

Southwark Plan, including the current 12 week consultation on the Preferred Option of 
the New Southwark Plan 

2. Considers how to best engage in the ongoing and forthcoming stages of plan 
preparation and planning to improve the consultation process and/or draft planning 
policies with the plan 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
  
Background to the New Southwark Plan 
 
3. The New Southwark Plan will form part of Southwark’s development plan along with 

the London Plan and area action plans. It is a regeneration strategy for Southwark and 
will be used to make decisions on planning applications. While the New Southwark 
Plan must be in general conformity with the London Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework, it can adapt some of these policies to reflect specific issues in 
Southwark. It will replace the Core Strategy (2011) and saved Southwark Plan (2010) 
policies. 

 
4. The Southwark Plan is being prepared with several stages of consultation taking place 

between 2013 and 2017. Each stage of consultation takes place for 12 weeks in 
accordance the council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement, consisting of 
of six weeks formal and six weeks informal consultation. This goes beyond the 
statutory six week consultation period. 

 
5. The consultation process includes web, press and social media updates, alongside 

public workshops and events with local community and amenity groups, 
neighbourhood forums, TRAs and community councils, and High Street interviews. 

 
6. The first draft of the New Southwark Plan is called the ‘Options’ version. It was subject 

to consultation from October 2014 to March 2015. It set out a detailed strategy for 
regeneration in Southwark and the Council’s approach to planning to deliver the Fairer 
Future promises updating the strategy and area visions in the Core Strategy. The 
consultation also consisted of a community conversation on ‘Health of the High 
Streets’. 

 
 

1 

5
Agenda Item 7



 
7. The second draft of the New Southwark Plan, the ‘Preferred Option’ is currently under 

a 12 week public consultation from Monday 26 October 2015 to Friday 12 February 
2016. The Preferred Option consists of updated strategic and development 
management policies that have been informed by the results of the Issues version 
consultation and further recent changes in national and regional planning policy. The 
approach taken within the Preferred Option has been to restructure the spatial themes 
within the plan to be clear how the council’s Fairer Future promises will be delivered 
through regeneration and planning. 

 
8. The final stage of preparation of the New Southwark Plan will be the ‘Submission’ 

version of the plan and is this is currently due for public consultation in autumn 2016. 
This version will be close to the final version of plan. Once consultation on the 
Submission version has taken place, the plan will be subject to a statutory examination 
by a Planning Inspector who will assess the soundness of the plan. If the plan is found 
the sound, it may be formally adopted by the council, circa summer 2017.  

 
9. New Southwark Plan will contain updated and detailed visions for neighbourhoods in 

Southwark including Aylesbury, Bankside, Bermondsey and the Blue, Blackfriars Road, 
Camberwell, Canada Water, Dulwich, Elephant and Castle, Herne Hill, London Bridge, 
Old Kent Road, Nunhead, Peckham and Tower Bridge Road. The development of the 
visions will be informed and prepared with considerable consultation during and 
preceding the Preferred Option public consultation process. This process will include 
discussions with ward councilors and local community groups prior to the consultation 
on the draft visions. 

 
10. The council intends to consult on draft area visions in spring 2016 after the London 

Mayoral elections. This stage of public consultation will also include consultation on a 
draft list of site allocations which are potential development sites. Gypsies and 
Travellers policy and sites as part of the site allocations document. This will take place 
alongside the consultation for the draft Old Kent Road Area Action Plan/Opportunity 
Area Planning Framework preferred option.. 

 
 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 
11. The New Southwark Plan is spatial planning document that covers a broad range of 

interrelated themes that relate to places and the built environment within Southwark. 
These themes inform the regeneration and place-making strategies, planning policies 
and implementation plan, and have been categorised against each of the council’s 
Fairer Future promises so that new development achieves the strategic objectives of 
the Council: 

 
• Strategic policies set out the council’s ambitious strategy to work with local people 

to see their values reflected to improve neighbourhoods and create new 
opportunities for the future.  

• ‘Quality Affordable homes’ sets out how the Council will lead to build all types of 
homes within Southwark. Detailed policies set out percentages of affordable and 
new family homes; protection of homes, private rented homes, housing for older 
people, households with specialist needs and houses in multiple occupation. Also 
optimising delivery of new homes. 

 
 

2 

6



• ‘Revitalised neighbourhoods’ sets out how to make places everyone can be proud 
of to live and work. The detailed policies enable this and cover design of places, 
quality and residential design; tall buildings, efficient use of land, listed buildings 
and structures, conservation areas, conservation of the historic environment and 
natural heritage, borough views, archaeology world heritage sites and the River 
Thames. 

• ‘Best start in life’ sets out how young people will have the best start in life with a 
safe, stable and healthy environment where they have the opportunity to develop 
make choices and feel in control of their lives and future. Detailed development 
management policies cover education places and student homes.  

• ‘Strong local economy’ sets out ways to enable residents to benefit from a strong 
economy. This will bring opportunities for employment and a place for town centres 
to thrive. Detailed policies include transition of preferred industrial locations to 
mixed use neighbourhoods, railway arches, small business units, town and local 
centres, development outside town centres, protected shopping frontages, shops 
outside protected shopping frontages, town and local centres, shop fronts, betting 
shops, pawnbrokers and pay day loan shops, hotel and other visitor 
accommodation and pubs; access to employment and training, outdoor 
advertisements and signage, broadband and telecommunications,  

• Healthy active lives sets out how we will maintain and improve the health and well 
being of residents. Detailed policies cover leisure, arts and culture, flexible 
community uses, hot food takeaways, public transport, network impacts, walking, 
Low Line walking routes and cycling, infrastructure improvements, car and cycle 
parking, parking standards for disabled people and the mobility impaired. 

• Cleaner, greener, safer sets out how we will lead the way in making people feel 
safe and the borough green. Detailed policies include protection of amenity, 
designing out crime, open space and open water space, biodiversity, trees, 
environmental standards, energy, reducing waste, land for waste management, 
environmental protection, improving air quality, reducing noise pollution, reducing 
water use and improving water quality and reducing flood risk. 

• The implementation section includes policies on infrastructure, Community 
Infrastructure Levy and planning obligations, enforcement, compulsory purchase 
order and monitoring. 

 
12. In light of the above context, the key issues for the Oversight and Scrutiny Committee 

to consider are: 
• How to best engage with the ongoing statutory and informal consultation 

processes during the preparation of the plan by Summer 2017; and  
• How the statutory and informal consultation processes could be enhanced; 

and 
• How the variety of planning policies (e.g. housing, jobs, environment) within 

the plan can be improved to further enhance the delivery of the council’s 
Fairer Future promises. 

 
 

CONSULTATION 
 
13. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (amended 2008), the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“the 2012 
Regulations”), and the council’s statement of community involvement (2008) set out the 
consultation requirements for the New Southwark Plan. 

 

 
 

3 

7



14. The council will carry out extensive consultation on the New Southwark Plan. This will 
include a consultation strategy, a consultation plan and report for every stage of 
consultation These documents were included as appendices to the Preferred Option 
cabinet report that went ot cabinet on 20 October 0215. 

 
 
Community Impact Statement 
 
15. The purpose of the New Southwark Plan is to facilitate regeneration and deliver the 

area visions and vision of the Fairer Future promises, ensuring that community impacts 
are taken into account. An Integrated Impact Assessment that includes an equalities 
analysis, has been prepared for New Southwark Plan Preferred Option to ensure that 
the plan has a positive impact on different groups and is delivering the most 
sustainable option. The Integrated Impact Assessment will be updated in light of 
revisions to the Submission version of the plan. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
16. There are no immediate resource implications arising from this report as any additional 

work required to complete the work will be carried out by the relevant policy team staff 
and budgets without a call on additional funding. 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Law and Democracy 
 
17. Supplementary advice from the Director of Law and Democracy of was sought and 

included in the cabinet report dated 20 October 2015.that was agreed at cabinet to 
commence consultation on the Preferred Option of the New Southwark Plan.  

 
 
Strategic Director of Finance and Governance 
 
18. Supplementary advice from the Strategic Director of Finance and Governance was 

sought and included in the cabinet report dated 20 October 2015.that was agreed at 
cabinet to commence consultation on the Preferred Option of the New Southwark Plan.  

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
London Plan 2011 http://www.london.gov.u

k/priorities/planning/lond
onplan 

planningpolicy@southwar
k.gov.uk 

Southwark Statement of Community 
Involvement 2008 

http://www.southwark.go
v.uk/info/856/planning_p
olicy/1238/statement_of_
community_involvement_
sci 

planningpolicy@southwar
k.gov.uk 

Saved Southwark Plan 2010 http://www.southwark.go
v.uk/info/856/planning_p

planningpolicy@southwar
k.gov.uk 

 
 

4 

8



olicy/1241/the_southwark
_plan 

The Core Strategy 2011 http://www.southwark.go
v.uk/info/200210/core_str
ategy 

planningpolicy@southwar
k.gov.uk 

National Planning Policy Framework http://www.gov.uk/govern
ment/publications/nationa
l-planning-policy -
framework--2 

planningpolicy@southwar
k.gov.uk 

New Southwark Plan Issues and 
Options 

http://www.southwark.go
v.uk/newsouthwarkplan 

planningpolicy@southwar
k.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 

  

Appendix A New Southwark Plan Preferred Option 

  

  

  
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 

Lead Officer Simon Bevan, Director of Planning  

Report Author Juliet Seymour, Planning Policy Manager  

Version Draft 

Dated 4 January 2016  

Key Decision? No 

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER 
 Comments Sought Comments included 

Director of Legal Services n/a n/a 

Departmental Finance 
Manager 

n/a n/a 

Cabinet Member  n/a n/a 

Date final report sent to Constitutional Support Services  

 
 

 
 

5 

9



New Southwark PlaN 
PreFerreD oPtIoN
October 2015

www.southwark.gov.uk/fairerfuture

10

www.southwark.gov.uk/fairerfuture


2 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

11



3 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Foreword             7

Purpose of plan          9

Southwark planning documents        10

Neighbourhood planning         11

Strategic Policies          
Introduction          12

SP1  Quality affordable homes        13

SP2  Revitalised neighbourhoods       14

SP3  Best start in life         15

SP4  Strong local economy         15

SP5  Healthy, active lives        18

SP6  Cleaner, greener, safer        19

Development Management Policies       
Introduction          21

Quality affordable homes         
DM1  Affordable homes        22

DM2  New family homes        24

DM3  Protection of existing family homes      26

DM4  Private rented homes         27

DM5  Housing for older people         28

DM6  Homes for households with specialist needs     29

DM7  Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) and hostels     31

DM8  Optimising delivery of new homes       32

Revitalised neighbourhoods        
DM9  Design of places         36

DM10  Design quality         37

DM11  Residential design        39

DM12  Tall buildings         43

12



4 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM13  Efficient use of land        44

DM14  Listed buildings and structures       45

DM15  Conservation areas        46

DM16  Conservation of the historic environment and natural heritage   47

DM17  Borough views         48

DM18  Archaeology         48

DM19  World Heritage Sites        51

DM20  River Thames         51

Best start in life         
DM21  Education places         53

DM22  Student homes         53

Strong, local economy        
DM23  Transition of preferred industrial locations to mixed use neighbourhoods  55

DM24  Office and business development       56

DM25  Railway arches         56

DM26  Small business units        57

DM27  Town and local centres        58

DM28  Development outside town centres      59

DM29  Protected shopping frontages       60

DM30  Shops outside protected shopping frontages, town and local centres   61

DM31  Shop fronts         62

DM32  Betting shops, pawnbrokers and pay day loan shops     63

DM33  Hotels and other visitor accommodation      63

DM34  Pubs          64

DM35  Access to employment and training      65

DM36  Outdoor advertisements and signage      65

DM37  Broadband and telecommunications      66

Healthy, active lifestyles        
DM38  Healthy developments        68

DM39  Leisure, arts and culture        68

DM40  Flexible community uses        69

13



5 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM41  Hot food takeaways        70

DM42  Public transport         72

DM43  Highways impacts        72

DM44  Walking          73

DM45  Low Line walking routes        73

DM46  Cycling          75

DM47  Infrastructure improvements       77

DM48  Car parking          77

DM49  Parking standards for disabled people and the mobility impaired   79

Cleaner, Greener, Safer        
DM50  Protection of amenity        80

DM51  Designing out crime        80

DM52  Open space and open water space       81

DM53  Biodiversity         83

DM54  Trees          84

DM55  Environmental standards        85

DM56  Energy          85

DM57  Reducing waste         88

DM58  Land for waste management       88

DM59  Environmental protection        89

DM60  Improving air quality        90

DM61  Reducing noise pollution        92

DM62  Reducing water use and improving water quality     93

DM63  Reducing flood risk        93

Implementation          
DM64  Infrastructure         96

DM65  Southwark CIL and Planning Obligations       96

DM66  Enforcement         97

DM67  Compulsory Purchase Order       97

DM68  Monitoring         97 
       

14



6 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

appendices

Appendix 1.  Southwark Council strategies and link to related 

  New Southwark Plan policies

Appendix 2.  Town centre boundaries

Appendix 3.  Primary and secondary protected shopping frontages

Appendix 4.  New open spaces

Appendix 5.  New and amended Sites of Important Nature Conservation (SINCs)

Appendix 6.  Cycle and car parking standards

Appendix 7.  Plan monitoring targets

Appendix 8.  Archaeological Priority Zones (APZs)

The appendices are available as separate documents for download at:

www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan

15

www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan


7 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Foreword
This New Southwark Plan sets out how we will deliver further regeneration and wider 

improvements for our great borough in the years to come. We have welcomed development to our 

borough, providing much needed homes and affordable homes for our residents, along with jobs 

– both in construction and in the completed schemes themselves. At the same time as welcoming 

new development we have maintained a strong commitment to preserving and enhancing the 

historic nature and identity of our borough. Our location, with large amounts of our borough being 

in Central London, provides an opportunity for all of Southwark’s residents to benefit from new 

developments.

Looking to the future we must answer the pressing need for housing – of all tenure 

types – for our residents, we need more affordable homes and in particular new council 

homes. To meet this need, Southwark has an ambitious target to deliver 11,000 new 

council homes by 2043 with the first 1,500 completed by 2018. This New Southwark Plan 

sets out that we expect to deliver a significant proportion of these homes through new 

developments, as well as through estate infill and regeneration. By working with our 

communities and local residents we will identify opportunities to deliver an increase in 

council homes on our existing estates. We have set out in our Council Plan a Fairer Future 

promise to make Southwark an age-friendly borough and this New Southwark Plan will 

help to promote a wider range of different types of homes that help to meet the needs of 

an aging population.

The regeneration of the former Heygate Estate and the wider Elephant and Castle continues 

to gather pace and is a clear demonstration of our commitment to improving the lives of our 

borough’s residents. To enable further estate regeneration we have adopted the Aylesbury Area 

Action Plan, Peckham and Nunhead Area Action Plan and are making great progress with the 

Canada Water Area Action Plan and the Old Kent Road Area Action Plan. All of these plans will 

help realise the potential of these distinct areas and deliver the homes and jobs our residents so 

desperately need.

16



8 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

This new plan also contributes to the borough’s new responsibilities for public health and helping 

our residents lead healthy and active lives. This plan complements our new Cycling Strategy which 

will set out how we will unlock the cycling network for our borough and help us get many more 

residents cycling. We continue to take a firm stand on limiting payday lenders who blight many 

of our high streets and town centres. This New Southwark Plan also sets out visions for all of our 

borough’s neighbourhoods including Camberwell, Borough, Tower Bridge, Bankside, Bermondsey 

and The Blue, Blackfriars Road, Dulwich and Herne Hill.

I look forward to hearing from residents, businesses and community groups from across our 

borough on the policies set out in this preferred option New Southwark Plan. By working together 

we can continue delivering the homes, jobs and high quality public spaces our borough needs.

Cllr Mark williams

Cabinet Member for regeneration and New homes

17



9 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Purpose of the plan
Southwark Council utilises planning and regeneration to improve and protect all of the 

different neighbourhoods within the borough. The purpose of the New Southwark Plan 

is to set out how the neighbourhoods will develop and the policies which will guide new 

developments. Planning decisions must be made as set out in the development plan 

which is the New Southwark Plan, the London Plan, area action plans and neighbourhood 

plans. Sometimes planning decisions are made which are different from the policies 

when there are ‘material considerations’ such as the viability of developing a site or a very 

local factor. These can add up and may be considered to be more important than the 

development plan when an application is considered by the Planning Committee.

The New Southwark Plan explains the strategy for the regeneration of Southwark and 

will contain area visions setting out aspirations for places, strategic policies setting out 

the Council’s strategy for planning and regeneration. Along with detailed development 

management policies which are numbered ‘DM1’ etc. It will also contains site allocations 

with specific requirements for the land uses and densities for development of those 

sites. The implementation and monitoring sections will ensure that development meets 

the aims of the plan. The adopted policies map will be updated with designations and 

allocations to set out land uses on sites and within areas.

Whilst the New Southwark Plan must be in general conformity with the London Plan and 

the National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance, it can 

adapt some of these policies to reflect specific issues in Southwark. It will replace the 

Core Strategy (2011) and saved Southwark Plan (2010) policies. The New Southwark Plan 

will be prepared over the next 3 years, with different stages of consultation taking place 

up to 2017. There were earlier stages of consultation between October 2013 and February 

2014 and October 2014 and February 2015. The ‘Issues’ consultation was a ‘community 

conversation’ on the ‘Health of the High Streets’. The responses were evaluated to amend 

the draft New Southwark Plan. The Options consultation set out an initial draft of the 

New Southwark Plan with options on policies where there were different ways that 

policies could be taken forward.

18



10 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

The preferred option has been prepared for consultation from 26 october 2015 until 

12 February 2016. This is an informal stage of consultation and all of the document can 

be changed at this stage. The area visions are being subject to detailed consultation and 

are draft ideas which will be updated significantly at this stage.

The submission version will be consulted on in Autumn 2016. It will only be changed if 

there are legal reasons as this is a formal stage of consultation. There may need to be 

another round of consultation depending on any changes resulting from the Mayoral 

election. There will then be an examination in public by a planning inspector. The 

inspector will prepare a report for the Council and may require changes to be made to 

the plan. The final New Southwark Plan will then be adopted by the Council. This is a 

decision taken by all Councillors at the Council Assembly.

Southwark planning documents
There are two types of planning documents, those in the development plan and 

guidance explaining and providing further detail to the development plan. The 

development plan documents are The London Plan prepared by the Mayor and the 

New Southwark Plan prepared by Southwark Council. The New Southwark Plan can be 

more detailed about Southwark than the London Plan. The Plans must be in general 

conformity, however the New Southwark Plan can sometimes be different as there may 

be local issues where there is evidence to support locally specific policies.

Area action plans are also part of the development plan. They can provide more detail 

about a local area within Southwark than the New Southwark Plan, but they can not 

conflict with the strategy set out in the New Southwark Plan. There are Area Action 

Plans for Peckham and Nunhead, Canada Water and Aylesbury and there is a Plan being 

prepared for Old Kent Road. There may be others prepared in the future.

The Council will prepare a separate development plan document setting out detailed 

policy for Gypsy and Traveller sites.

There is a Community Infrastructure Levy document which sets out the payments 

required for developments.

19



11 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Supplementary Planning Documents provide more detailed guidance with additional 

requirements. They can be area or subject based. Areas with Supplementary Planning 

Documents are Blackfriars Road, Dulwich and Elephant and Castle. Subjects include 

Affordable Housing, Sustainability, Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106. They 

will be updated and amended following the finalised New Southwark Plan.

Neighbourhood Planning
The Localism Act 2011 introduced a new type of plan called a Neighbourhood Plan. This 

is a plan prepared by local people which contains policies and proposals in relation to 

the development and use of land in the whole, or part of, a particular area identified as 

a ‘neighbourhood area’. A neighbourhood plan will have weight in the determination of 

planning applications and will form part of the development plan alongside the London 

Plan, New Southwark Plan and area action plans. The Act also allows for Neighbourhood 

Development Orders which grant planning permission in relation to a particular 

neighbourhood area for development or a Use Class of development, for example, retail 

use, specified in the Order. Neighbourhood plans and neighbourhood development 

orders must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the local authority 

which will include those in the Local Plan (New Southwark Plan and area action plans), 

London Plan and National Planning Policy Framework. Neighbourhood areas have been 

agreed in Southwark for Bankside, Rotherhithe, Old Bermondsey Village and South Bank 

and Waterloo. Neighbourhood Forums have been agreed for all of the above except 

Rotherhithe. There are further applications being considered at present for Elephant and 

Walworth and Crystal Palace.

For the most up to date documents please check the website:

www.southwark.gov.uk/planningpolicy

20

www.southwark.gov.uk/planningpolicy


12 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Strategic Policies

Introduction 
Southwark Council has an ambitious strategy to work with local people to see their 

values reflected in the New Southwark Plan to improve neighbourhoods and create new 

opportunities for the future:

SP1  Quality affordable homes

SP2  Revitalised neighbourhoods

SP3  Best start in life

SP4  Strong local economy

SP5  Healthy, active lives

SP6  Cleaner, greener, safer

21



13 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Strategic Policy 1  Quality affordable homes
We will lead the way in London to build more homes of every kind in Southwark, and to 

use every tool at our disposal to increase the supply of all different kinds of homes in the 

borough. We will ensure that homes in Southwark will be of such good quality that when 

you come to visit families and friends you will not know whether you are visiting homes 

in private, housing association or council ownership. We will build 11,000 new council 

homes by 2043 by developing our own land and developing on some of our existing 

estates, including in-fill development. We will improve housing standards and build 

more homes for households with children as well as childless households. We will make 

sure that vulnerable residents and families are helped to find the right housing to live as 

independently as possible. We aim for our residents to take pride in and feel responsible 

for their homes and their local area too.

reasons

We are currently building around 1,700 new homes a year with around 700 of these being 

affordable homes. This is consistently one of the highest levels of delivery of new homes 

within London and nationwide. It is widely recognised that rising rent and property 

prices in the private sector, the loss of council homes through the ‘Right to Buy’, and 

a lack of affordable housing means that younger generations may be forced to move 

away from their families and communities. Our residents told us they want more council 

housing and that it should be of a high standard. There are enough sites to build at least 

2,736 new homes per year which would meet the London Plan target of 27,362 new 

homes between 2015 and 2025. Our Regeneration Areas can meet much of our housing 

need as long as opportunities to enhance local transport, schools and parks are taken. 

We have also identified a number of potential sites suitable for development throughout 

the borough which we will allocate for housing.

It is widely recognised that Southwark Council needs to build and facilitate delivery of a 

variety of new homes that meet the needs of households of different sizes, on different 

incomes and with a variety of specific needs. We will encourage innovative solutions 

to meeting specific housing needs where suited to the local context. For example, 

we will support residents who wish to build their own homes where the proposed 

development is using land efficiently. We will not support live-work units where they 

would compromise employment uses or where conventional housing could be built. We 

will work with developers to assess applications for Starter Home designation but we 

22



14 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

will not permit Starter Homes on sites with viable commercial uses or on sites which are 

allocated for housing or on which conventional housing would be acceptable under the 

policies of this Plan. We will monitor local demand for self build and custom build and we 

will encourage this form of development where sites could not be more efficiently used for 

conventional housing.

Strategic Policy 2  revitalised neighbourhoods
We will revitalise our neighbourhoods to make them places we can all be proud to live 

and work. We will ensure that all our residents can access the benefits of our regeneration 

programmes and the opportunities created by those programmes for new homes, new 

jobs and new infrastructure. We will encourage residential development above shops to 

enliven town centres and we will ensure that our residents and neighbourhoods prosper 

from growth by introducing a new diversity standard to ensure that people from every 

community get their voices included when decisions are made.

reasons

Southwark is a borough with a proud heritage and a great future. It’s a future filled with 

potential, with some of the most exciting and ambitious regeneration programmes in 

the country being delivered right on our doorstep. The New Southwark Plan explains the 

strategy for regeneration from 2018 to 2033. Using our unique location in central London to 

benefit local residents, it will encourage innovative development of spaces to provide new 

Council and other affordable homes, jobs, schools, shops and places to work. The homes 

are being built rapidly, with most of the change taking place in the north and centre of 

Southwark, predominantly in Elephant and Castle, Canada Water, East Walworth, Blackfriars 

Road, Bankside and along the River Thames. We need to keep up with this pace of change 

by ensuring that all of these places have infrastructure and services to make them function 

effectively.

Policies will enhance local distinctiveness and heritage-led regeneration by requiring the 

highest possible standards of design, creating attractive, healthy and distinctive buildings 

and places. This will be supported by providing green infrastructure and opportunities for 

healthy activities and improving streets, squares and public places between buildings.

23



15 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Strategic Policy 3  Best start in life
We will give all our young people the best start in life in a safe, stable and healthy 

environment where they have the opportunity to develop, make choices and feel in 

control of their lives and future. We will offer our young people and families, including 

those who are more vulnerable or have special educational needs, the right support at 

the right time, from their early years through adolescence and into successful adult life. 

To achieve this we will deliver more childcare, school places and double the number of 

Southwark Scholarships, ensure a top quality children’s playground in every local area, 

provide free fruit for primary school children and invest in more early support for families. 

We will increase library access and find new ways to guarantee care and early education 

to help parents. 

reasons

We believe in giving all our young people the best start in life. We will establish a new 

Childcare Commission bringing together experts, parents, providers and employers to 

find new ways to guarantee care and early education. We will work with our looked after 

children to find them stable and loving homes. In our schools, the high demand for new 

primary and secondary places means we will make sure there are enough places for all. 

Our children deserve the very best and that’s what we’ll always aim for.

Strategic Policy 4 Strong local economy
We will work to make sure that Southwark has a strong economy where all of our 

residents benefit. We will bring more opportunities for people in Southwark to find work, 

get into training and achieve their aspirations. We will make Southwark a place where 

the town centres and high streets thrive and a place to do business in the central London 

and global economy, where business owners know this is the borough where their 

enterprises will grow and prosper. The distinctive town and local centres will be places 

where shops, leisure, office and community uses are competitive and popular, providing 

customer choice for local communities. We will work with our residents to assist them 

to be and stay financially independent, and with local business and other partners to 

make sure our residents are equipped with the skills and knowledge to access the many 

exciting opportunities that being in Southwark brings. We will ensure the delivery of 500 

new affordable small business units within the borough.

24



16 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

When our economy is strong then all our residents benefit. It brings more opportunities 

for people in Southwark to find work, get into training and achieve their aspirations. 

Southwark has a set of distinctive Regeneration Areas offering an environment where 

businesses, including small and medium sized enterprises, create new jobs and 

opportunities particularly for local people. To help provide more affordable business 

space and help start up businesses our High Street Challenge initiative provides grant 

funds to support business and community-led groups to deliver new street markets 

and diversify uses on high streets through pop-up use of empty space. We are looking 

for the best ways to improve our town and local centres, considering which controls we 

need for the types of uses they contain and whether their boundaries should change to 

make them larger or smaller. We pay particular attention to proposed growth in betting, 

payday loan shops and takeaways and the potential loss of pubs, leisure and cultural 

uses. There are plans to regenerate Old Kent Road, Peckham, Camberwell, Nunhead, 

Tower Bridge Road and other town centres.

Southwark’s Regeneration Areas are:

•	 Central Activities Zone;

•	 Strategic Cultural Areas;

•	 Bankside, Borough and London Bridge Opportunity Area;

•	 Elephant and Castle Opportunity Area;

•	 Canada Water Opportunity Area Core;

•	 Old Kent Road Opportunity Area (to be defined);

•	 Aylesbury Action Area Core;

•	 Peckham and Nunhead Action Area Core;

•	 Camberwell Action Area Core (to be defined);

•	 Bermondsey Action Area Core (to be defined).

25



17 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 1: Regeneration Areas 

Bankside, Borough and London 
Bridge Opportunity Area

Elephant and Castle 
Opportunity Area

Old Kent Road Opportunity Area Aylesbury
 Action Area

Peckham and Nunhead 
Action Area

Camberwell 
Action Area

Bermondsey 
Action Area 

Canada Water
Opportunity Area

26



18 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Strategic Policy 5  healthy, active lives
We will maintain and improve the health and wellbeing of our residents, encouraging 

healthy lives by tackling the root causes of ill health and inequalities in our society. We 

will ensure all council homes are warm, dry and safe and build quality new homes to 

help people to live healthier lives. We will work with residents and our partners to build 

resilient communities, extending opportunities to all to maintain and improve their 

health and wellbeing. We are committed to people remaining in their homes for longer 

and ensuring vulnerable residents can lead and enjoy independent lives, achieve their 

goals and have a great future in Southwark. We will deliver a safer cycling network, 

improve green spaces and improve access to healthcare, voluntary organisations and 

community health facilities.

reasons

The responsibility of the council to promote public health has been strengthened 

through the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The New Southwark Plan will be an 

important tool for promoting healthy lifestyles. It can promote healthy streets and 

neighbourhoods with pleasant town centres to shop, socialise and get access to health 

services, all within walking distance and very convenient for cycling. This will support our 

aim to be an age friendly borough. New policies for improving town centres, building 

schools, and providing the facilities for cycling and walking will address physical and 

mental health issues to improve the every day experiences of residents, workers and 

shoppers. We are introducing the concept of ‘active design’ which, among other things, 

makes using the stairs an attractive alternative to using lifts and encourages the use of 

bicycles for local trips. We will also encourage permanent and temporary community 

food growing opportunities, improve the quality of green spaces and parks, and ensure 

residents have access to opportunities for free swimming and gym use and an extended 

bike hire and cycle network.

27



19 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Strategic Policy 6  Cleaner, Greener Safer
We will lead the way in making people feel safe, creating cleaner streets, increasing 

recycling and reducing landfill waste. We will protect and enhance our environment 

through making new and existing buildings as energy efficient as possible. Our 

neighbourhoods will be safer with well designed buildings and spaces that discourage 

crime and anti-social behaviour and foster a sense of community. Southwark will be 

a place where walking, cycling and public transport is the most convenient, safe and 

attractive way to move around. We will protect and improve our network of open spaces, 

trees and biodiverse habitats and green corridors that make places open and attractive 

and provide important sport, leisure and food growing opportunities. We will improve 

our natural environment through the use of urban greening to reduce flood risk and 

improve air quality. We will work with local people to deliver the very best so that the 

borough is a clean, green and safe place to be.

reasons

Creating a cleaner, greener and safer Southwark will play a key role in making it a 

place where people enjoy and thrive. Reducing landfill, remediating contaminated 

land and increasing recycling and the re-use of waste materials will help us minimise 

our environmental impact and help to protect biodiversity and habitats for future 

generations to enjoy. Ensuring buildings are energy efficient and low carbon will 

help reduce our carbon footprint and our contribution to man-made climate change 

while also saving money through reduced energy bills for our residents and workers. 

Prioritising walking, cycling and public transport will also help us reduce our carbon 

foot print, as well as reduce the congestion and poor air quality that private cars can 

make worse. Some parts of the borough’s walking and cycling routes are inaccessible, 

confusing and can at times feel unsafe. Some routes are based on outdated urban design 

principles with poor public realm. Improving these routes will encourage more walking 

and cycling. Poor air quality has significant health impacts so reducing harmful pollutants 

is crucial in making a safer and cleaner place. There is also a risk of flooding from both 

the Thames and surface water pooling. We need to mimic natural drainage patterns by 

reducing hard surfaces and increasing absorbent surfaces using soil and planting. Our 

parks and open spaces, trees and wildlife habitats are of enormous value so it is essential 

that we continue to protect and enhance them to ensure they can be enjoyed and used 

by everyone.

28



20 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

The detailed policies set out requirements for development. They contain the specifics 

to deliver the strategic policies to enable the strategy for regeneration and planning to 

be put into practice. They do not repeat or cross reference each other and therefore all of 

the policies need to be addressed.

The site allocations set out the land uses that can be built on specific development sites. 

These take precedent over the policies and therefore if you have a site for development 

you should check the site allocations list and the adopted policies map before 

considering the land use set out in the policies.

29



21 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Development Management 
Policies

Introduction
Where there are assessments required for planning applications, these are set out in the 

draft validation checklist:

www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan

Where other council strategies and documents are relevant to the policies in this plan, 

they can be found in Appendix 1 of this plan at: 

www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan

An explanation of terms can be found at:

www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan

Further guidance and best practice can be found at:

www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan

30

www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan
www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan
www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan
www.southwark.gov.uk/newsouthwarkplan


22 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM1  affordable homes
Planning permission will be granted for:

1  A minimum of 35% affordable housing where at least 70% of the affordable 

housing is for social rent and up to 30% is intermediate where developments 

provide 10 or more homes, as set out below, unless affordable housing 

requirements have been set through an area action plan. The affordable 

housing requirement will be calculated on a per sqm basis of the entire Gross 

Internal Area of the building used as dwellings:

 Table 1: Affordable housing requirements

Market 
housing affordable housing

Up to 65%

A minimum of 35%

Intermediate housing Social rented housing

Up to 10.5% A minimum of 24.5%

2  Affordable housing on site and if this is not possible off-site. Where this is not 

possible there needs to be a financial contribution towards the delivery of new 

council homes. The value of the financial contribution will be the difference in 

gross development value between a policy compliant scheme and any shortfall 

in affordable housing. The subdivision of sites or phasing of development 

which has the effect of circumventing this policy requirement will not be 

permitted;

3  Developments for nine or fewer homes where a financial contribution towards 

the delivery of council homes is provided. The value of the financial payment 

will be the difference in gross development value between a scheme providing 

the level of affordable housing required through DM1.1, and a fully private 

housing scheme;

4  Intermediate tenure homes which are affordable to Southwark residents and 

meet local intermediate income thresholds.

Quality, affordable housing

31



23 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

There is a shortage of affordable homes in Southwark, across London and the whole of 

the UK. Providing more affordable housing is our main priority. Our Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment shows that Southwark has a net additional housing requirement 

for 1,472 to 1,824 units per year (2013-2031). We have an annual net affordable housing 

need for 799 homes per year (assuming backlog need is met over a 20 year period), 

including affordable homes for rent and intermediate tenure homes. Affordable Housing 

represents 48% of Southwark’s total annual housing need.

We have set a target for all new major development providing 10 units or more to deliver 

a minimum 35% affordable housing as a proportion of the residential floorspace of the 

development. This is a viable and deliverable amount for developments in Southwark to 

provide, and where this level of provision can not be achieved for reasons of viability, the 

council will require a full viability appraisal. The methodology to determine the value of 

any required financial contribution ensures there cannot be a financial advantage to the 

developer from not delivering the affordable housing on-site. The minimum affordable 

housing requirement applies to both new development and any uplift in housing from 

redevelopments (current affordable housing provision will be retained). We will increase 

the supply of affordable homes to meet our affordable housing need through the direct 

provision of 9,500 new council homes between 2018 and 2033. Requiring a financial 

contribution from schemes providing nine homes or fewer will finance the delivery of 

additional council homes.

Due to the high cost of market housing, approximately 57% of our total housing need 

is for affordable housing and 27% of our total housing need, is for intermediate housing 

to meet the housing needs of lower and middle income residents. However, the 

most acute housing need is for social rented housing to meet the needs of homeless 

households living in unsuitable temporary accommodation such as bed and breakfasts 

or overcrowded conditions. Overcrowding is strongly related to poor physical and mental 

health and can strain family relationships. Children in overcrowded homes often achieve 

poorly at school and suffer disturbed sleep. For this reason we require a minimum 

21% social rented housing and we allow additional social rented housing in place of 

intermediate tenure homes and market homes.

We will not accept affordable rent as it fails to meet the affordable housing needs of 

Southwark’s residents in need of affordable housing (see Southwark Affordable Rent 

Study 2015).

32



24 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM2  New family homes
Planning permission will be granted for major residential developments, including 

conversions, where they provide the following unit mix: 

1  A minimum of 60% with two or more bedrooms;

2  A maximum of 5% studios; which can only be for private housing;

3  The maximum number of bedspaces for the number of bedrooms where they 

are social rented;

4 Minimums of 3, 4 or 5 bedroom affordable units as set out in Table 2 below and 

in Figure 2.

Table 2: Family housing requirements by zone

Percentage of 3 bed+ homes locations

20% Central zone and Action Area cores

25% Urban zone

30% Suburban zone

33



25 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 2: Family housing zones

Central Activites Zone

Aylesbury
Action Area Core

Urban Zone

Canada Water
Action Area Core

Suburban Zone

Peckham and Nunhead
Action Area Core

Suburban Zone

Suburban Density Zone

Urban Density Zone

Central Activity Zone or Action Area core

34



26 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

Building more family housing will help to address overcrowding, provide opportunities 

for families to live in all of our neighbourhoods and increase opportunities for foster 

care. Our Strategic Housing Market Assessment shows that we need 96% of new 

social rented homes and 36% of new intermediate tenure homes to provide three or 

more bedrooms. We require a minimum proportion of new homes to provide two 

beds or more because studios and one bed homes are unsuitable for families. Studio 

apartments are relatively affordable but they do not adequately meet the housing 

needs of most households.

Two bed homes can meet the needs of smaller families; however, to meet the needs 

of larger families we require the provision of some family homes with three or more 

bedrooms. The proportion of family homes required in urban and suburban settings 

is greater because these parts of the borough provide greater opportunities to build 

family homes as they are better able to accommodate adequate amenity space. Family 

units in flatted developments are more suitable on lower floors to facilitate access to 

amenity space and communication with children playing in these

DM3  Protection of existing family homes
Planning permission will only be granted for the conversion of a single home of 130sqm 

or more (original net internal floorspace) into two or more homes.

reasons

The high level of need for family homes means it is important that we protect our 

existing family housing stock from conversion into smaller homes which would be 

unsuitable for housing families.

35



27 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM4  Private rented homes
Planning permission will be granted for purpose built, private rented homes:

1  Which are secured for the rental market for a minimum 30 year term with 

tenancies which last a minimum of three years;

2  That meet Southwark’s Private Rent Standard;

3  That provide a high standard of security and management;

4 That provide an equivalent amount of affordable housing to conventionally 

funded schemes, in accordance with DM1.

reasons

We recognise that the private rented sector (PRS) meets the housing needs of residents 

who cannot afford to buy or do not want to buy private homes in Southwark. Between 

2001 and 2011, the PRS in Southwark increased from 15,932 to 29,995 households. In 

2011 the PRS represented 24.9% of a total 120,422 households in the borough, up from 

15.1% of a total 105,806 households in 2001. Private renting households often live in 

some of the worst quality, poorly managed accommodation. Furthermore, the majority 

of private renting households have very limited security of tenure which is particularly 

damaging for households with children,and some renters face arbitrary evictions and 

unjustified rent increases.

The PRS has the potential to increase Southwark’s housing supply because developers 

have fewer concerns about the rate at which the market can absorb new homes whilst 

still achieving their price expectation. The PRS also benefits the local and regional 

economy as it enables greater household mobility. We want to encourage a private 

rented sector which provides higher quality accommodation and a greater level of 

security for tenants than that which is offered by much of the current PRS market. 

We will support institutional investment in the sector where benefits are secured for 

residents through agreement. Southwark’s Private Rent Standard is a code of good 

practice which sets out similar expectations to a competent rental property manager 

who acts to protect the capital value of their investment and enhance its income stream.

Evidence shows that PRS schemes are as viable as conventionally funded schemes 

in Southwark over the lifespan of the investment. We will therefore not accept an 

affordable housing offer which provides a lower net amount of affordable housing than 

our policy requirement under DM1.

36



28 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM5  housing for older people
Planning permission will be granted for development that delivers:

1  New specialist housing for older people and affordable housing contributions in 

accordance with DM1;

2 A loss of specialist older people housing where a comparable level of suitable 

alternative accommodation is provided elsewhere in the borough, subject to 

need.

reasons

We will meet the needs of older residents who develop physical or sensory impairments, 

such as dementia, through helping them to stay in their own homes through adaptations 

to existing housing. This is the most popular housing option for Southwark’s older 

people. However, there will always be a need for specialist types of older people’s 

housing, including extra-care housing and nursing home provision, to meet the needs 

of older people who are unable to remain in their own homes. Other forms of specialist 

older people housing options include sheltered housing, consisting of self-contained 

individual flats, almshouses and co-housing schemes. We will work with registered 

providers and other relevant partners to support the provision of different types of 

specialist housing where there is a clear identified local need. We will also ensure that 

new specialist homes for older people are located in areas which are suitable for older 

residents, which in many instances will need to have good access to local goods and 

services and be located in, or close to, town centres and regeneration areas. This will 

ensure that there is a wider choice of housing options for Southwark’s older residents.

37



29 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM6 homes for households with    
  specialist needs
Planning permission will be granted for:

1  Residential development where: 

1.1 At least 10% of homes meet Building Regulation M4(3) standard (Wheelchair 

User Dwellings); and affordable wheelchair user homes are wheelchair accessible 

(M4(3b));

1.2 Wheelchair user dwellings provide a mix of dwelling sizes, including family 

homes. Two bedroom three person affordable wheelchair user homes will not be 

acceptable;

1.3 Wheelchair accessible homes meet the saved minimum space standards of the 

South East London Wheelchair Housing Design Guide set out in Table 3.

 Table 3: Required accessible wheelchair user housing minimum space 

standards

2 Affordable wheelchair homes should meet the saved design and access 

standards from the South East London Wheelchair Housing Design Guide. 

Unoccupied affordable wheelchairs home must be let as local authority 

temporary accommodation until a suitable permanent household is identified.

Number of 
Bedrooms

Minimum Space 
(Flats) (sqm)

Minimum Space 
(houses) (sqm)

1b2p 65 N/A

2b3p 75 80

2b4p 85 100

3b4p 100 110

3b5p 110 120

3b6p 115 125

38



30 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

3  New private and intermediate wheelchair user homes must be marketed as 

wheelchair user homes in a suitable publication and website aimed at older 

and less able-bodied people and fitted out to meet the specifications of the 

occupier prior to occupation. We encourage private wheelchair user homes to 

meet standard M4(3b). 

4  Development may be required to provide alternative specialist housing to 

meet specific needs in place of an affordable wheelchair user home where we 

have identified a specialist housing need.

5 Where wheelchair housing cannot be provided onsite, a financial contribution 

will be required towards the provision of new affordable wheelchair homes or 

the adaptation of existing affordable homes to wheelchair user standard. The 

financial contribution will be the equivalent to the cost of building a wheelchair 

unit.

reasons

We have identified an unmet need for affordable wheelchair user housing as well as 

a need for alternative types of specialist housing which meet the needs of people 

with disabilities that are not met by wheelchair accessible housing. Sometimes a new 

affordable wheelchair user home becomes available when no household with a need 

for that specific home can be allocated. We require unallocated affordable wheelchair 

homes to be let as temporary accommodation in order to ensure all specialist homes 

remain available for their intended use when a suitable household can be found for a 

new wheelchair home.

Wheelchair user homes, as stipulated under Building Regulations M4(3) are inferior in 

quality to the standards set out in the South East London Wheelchair Housing Design 

Guide and do not provide guidance on minimum floorspace requirements for the whole 

dwelling. To ensure the provision of the highest quality, safest, wheelchair user homes we 

have retained the wheelchair user homes minimum space standards from the guidance 

and we encourage all affordable wheelchair user homes to meet the saved standards of 

the guidance.

Where wheelchair homes are not provided as part of a major development the council 

will require a financial contribution towards retrofitting existing social rented homes to 

wheelchair accessible standard or the provision of new affordable wheelchair homes.

39



31 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM7  houses in multiple occupation    
  and hostels
1  Planning permission will be granted for new Houses in Multiple Occupation 

(HMOs) and hostels that provide support for vulnerable people where:

1.1 There is no overconcentration of these types of uses within the local area;

1.2 HMOs meet the Council’s Standards for HMOs;

1.3  There is an identified local need for hostel provision.

2  Planning permission will not be granted for the change of use from hostels 

where it meets an identified local housing need.

reasons

Houses in multiple occupation and hostels meet the needs of some households and 

reduce pressure on conventional housing stock. For some people, general needs 

housing may not be suitable to meet their needs. HMOs and hostels provide basic 

housing for people who are struggling to access suitable affordable accommodation, 

thereby reducing homelessness. Whilst these types of accommodation are generally not 

considered suitable for families, the number of families occupying such accommodation 

has risen in response to the acute shortage of affordable conventional homes.

We know that existing HMOs can often be of poor quality. Design standards are 

important as HMOs and hostels often offer small homes with the minimum facilities that 

people need.

Excessive clustering of HMOs and hostels can undermine the social cohesion of an area, 

partly due to the temporary nature of accommodation offered. The change of use from 

a conventional house to an HMO is permitted development where the dwelling house 

is for use by three to six residents. However, larger HMOs require planning permission. 

Where there is already a high concentration of these types of accommodation in one 

particular area, we may consider the use of Article 4 Directions to restrict the amount of 

accommodation of these types coming forward in future.

40



32 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM8  optimising delivery of new homes
1  Planning permission will be granted for development within the density ranges 

in Table 4.

 Table 4: Permitted residential density ranges

2 Development may exceed the density ranges where it achieves an    

 exemplary standard of residential design. Exemplary residential    

 design must:

  a Provide excellent quality living conditions;

 b  Achieve exemplary architectural design;

 c Exceed the nationally described space standard, including providing   

 additional built-in storage space;

 d  Provide high ceilings which maximise natural ventilation;

 e  Maximise natural light and ventilation to kitchens and bathrooms;

 f Minimise corridor lengths by having an increased number of cores;

 g  Not have more than eight dwellings accessed from a single core;

 h  Demonstrate that the development has sought to maximise the use of   

 sustainable technologies and materials;

 i Exceed our private and communal amenity space requirements;

 j  Provide communal facilities including gardens and community rooms;

 k  Provide a variety of housing types within the development;

 l  Provide fully or partially inset balconies.

location habitable rooms
 per hectare

Central Activities Zone and Canada Water 
Opportunity Area Core

650  - 1100

Urban Zone 200 - 700

Suburban Zones 200 - 350

41



33 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

3 Development will not be permitted where it results in the net loss of    

 residential floorspace except:

 3.1  Where the existing location and standard of accommodation is unsatisfactory 

and cannot be improved; or

 3.2  Where the residential accommodation is on a site which is allocated for an 

alternative use in preference to housing.

reasons 
We will seek to meet our target to build 2,376 homes per year by requiring development 

to optimise the use of land, building within the density ranges set out in Table 2. These 

density ranges reflect the higher range of permissible density included in the London 

Plan and will apply to both residential and non-residential development. Whilst some 

areas of the borough have relatively low public transport accessibility, all areas of the 

borough have good accessibility to town centres and local amenities. It is important 

that we bring forward as much housing as possible whilst also protecting the character 

of neighbourhoods. We want to provide housing that responds to the local and historic 

context, and to retain and create places where  people want to live.

Allowing higher densities in Regeneration Areas, which benefit from high levels of 

accessibility and provide opportunities to build supporting infrastructure, will ensure we 

make efficient use of our land by providing as much housing as possible whilst reducing 

our impact on the natural environment. Too much development can have a negative 

impact on the environment unless it is built to a very high standard of design.

42



34 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 3: Map of permitted residential density ranges 

Suburban Density Zone

Urban Density Zone

Central Activity Zone and Canada Water Action Area Core

43



35 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Fact box: Habitable rooms and density
A habitable room is any room with a window suitable for sleeping, living or dining, 

regardless of what it is actually used for. This excludes toilets, bathrooms, landings, halls 

and lobbies, and also excludes kitchens with an overall floor area of less than 11sqm.

27.5sqm is the average area required to create one habitable room, including shared 

circulation space, and non-habitable rooms. For rooms above 27.5sqm, the number of 

habitable rooms will be calculated relative to the room size.

Residential density (RD) is calculated as follows:

For residential-only development, density is the number of habitable rooms (HR) divided 

by the developable site area (Ha).

Residential density formula: D = HR / Ha

For mixed-use development, residential density (D) is based on the proportion of the 

developable site area given over to residential use. The residential density is calculated 

by apportioning the developable site area (Ha) between the residential use (RU) and non 

residential uses (NRU) as a percentage of the development. The residential density will be 

calculated by dividing the number of habitable rooms (Ha) by the developable site area 

apportioned to residential use (apportioned residential site area ARHa).

Mixed-use residential density formula: D = HR / ARHa.

(ARHa = HA * RU(%))

For mixed-use development where the majority of floorspace is non-residential a 

method of calculation should be agreed with Southwark Council to illustrate how the 

development would provide an efficient use of land and contribute to housing delivery.

In calculating the developable site area major distributor roads, significant landscape 

buffer strips, and large areas of public open space will not be included.

44



36 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM9 Design of places
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1  Ensures the height, scale, massing and arrangement of development responds 

positively to the existing townscape, character and context;

2  Better reveals local distinctiveness and architectural character;

3  Ensures an urban grain and site layout that takes into account and improves 

existing patterns of development and movement, permeability and street 

widths;

4  Ensures buildings, public spaces and routes are positioned according to their 

function, importance and use;

5  Ensures a high quality public realm that is safe, understandable and attractive 

and that eases the movement of pedestrians, cyclists and vehicular traffic. 

Street clutter should be avoided;

6  Ensures contextual landscaping including the retention of street trees, the use 

of green infrastructure and the principles of water sensitive urban design;

7  Provides accessible and inclusive design for all ages and people with 

disabilities. Development should ensure compliance with the Equalities Act 

2010, relevant London Plan policies and Part M of the Building Regulations;

8  Provides opportunities for formal and informal play.

reasons

It is important to take the principles of urban design into consideration when designing 

new development, in order to ensure that new development improves the environment 

so that people want to spend time in the place. The principles extend to the internal 

design and the spaces between buildings, as well as appearance of the buildings. 

Developments must be designed to ensure accessibility, inclusivity, and interaction, 

regardless of disability, age or gender, and allow all to participate equally, confidently and 

independently in everyday activities.

Southwark’s built environment reflects different periods of design and development 

and portrays a variety of local character. Some local character is unique with a distinct 

revitalised Neighbourhoods

45



37 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

identity, while other areas have local character that is poorer or less defined. Further 

detail on local character can be found in our visions, characterisation studies and 

conservation area appraisals.

The public realm is the network of spaces, streets and paths between buildings. Good 

public realm design is essential to help people move around the borough as it improves 

the streetscape, and create a sense of place with vibrant, pleasant environments that 

people will take pride in and enjoy

Provision of urban greening and green infrastructure can deliver multiple amenity 

and environmental benefits within buildings and the public realm, such as helping to 

reduce the urban heat island effect, where urban areas become significantly hotter than 

rural areas in summer, and the impact of surface water flooding, both of which will be 

exacerbated by climate change. It can also provide opportunities for recreation and 

food growing. The enhancement of areas through urban greening can also help deliver 

economic growth and create healthier places by reducing air pollution and encouraging 

physical activity.

DM10  Design quality
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Ensures high standards of design with appropriate fabric, function and 

geometry;

2  Ensures new buildings and alterations to existing buildings have an innovative 

design or solution that is specific to the site’s context, topography and 

constraints;

3  Ensures adequate daylight, sunlight and outlook;

4  Uses materials that are high quality, durable, sustainable and that respond 

positively to context;

5 Implements sustainable design and construction techniques;

6  Utilises active design principles that are fitting to the location, context, scale 

and type of development;

46



38 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

7  Provides active frontages and ground floors and building entrances that 

promote activity and successfully engage with the public realm;

8  Provides adequate servicing within the footprint of the building and site;

9  Ensures accessibility and inclusive design for all and provides a positive 

pedestrian experience.

10  Provides basements that do not have adverse structural or environmental 

impacts.

reasons

Good design is a key aspect of making places better for people. Southwark has some 

world-class developments that have raised its profile, and has a wealth of development 

opportunities which will continue to add to its reputation for high quality design. 

Southwark has a range of different neighbourhoods and areas contributing to its local 

distinctiveness, and this diversity will be reflected in new development. It is important 

that good quality materials are used in development: the right materials greatly 

contribute to the overall impression of a building, as well as how it relates to its area. In 

order to minimise the impact of the development the functions of the building, such 

as servicing, cycle parking and plant, should be designed into its footprint. This should 

enable day to day activity to take place without impacting greatly on the surroundings.

In addition to healthcare services, such as GPs and clinics, other environmental and social 

conditions are known to influence people’s health. The internal layout of buildings can 

be designed to encourage activity, for example, by making stairwells more attractive, 

visible and convenient to use. Locating benches, public toilets and water fountains along 

walking routes provides encouragement to use them. Active design can also help reduce 

energy consumption in buildings..

Sustainable design must reduce energy consumption and carbon dioxide emissions, 

minimise the consumption of natural resources, reduce flood risk and pollution, ensure 

the avoidance of internal overheating, minimise the urban heat island effect, and creation 

of adverse local climatic conditions (e.g. wind shear).

47



39 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM11  residential design
Planning permission will be granted for residential development where:

1 All homes meet or exceed the minimum, national space standard, providing 

adequate internal space for the intended number of occupants (Table 5). A 

minimum ceiling height of 2.5 metres is strongly encouraged for at least 75% of 

the dwelling;

2  Dual aspect homes face at least two different aspects and allow for natural 

cross ventilation. Provision of a bay window does not constitute dual aspect. 

Single aspect homes will only be acceptable in exceptional circumstances and 

must meet the following requirements:

 a Single aspect family homes should be avoided and single aspect family  

 homes providing three or more bedrooms will not be acceptable. 

 b North facing single aspect homes will not be acceptable; 

 c Single aspect homes should avoid exposure to noise levels above which  

 significant adverse effects on health and quality of life may occur;  

 d Single aspect homes should demonstrate good levels of privacy and   

 ventilation to all rooms;  

 e Single aspect homes must demonstrate how overheating will be avoided  

 and must, where practical, utilise non-mechanical ventilation systems,   

 such as increased ceiling heights;

3  All homes provide a useable amount of private amenity space. Where private 

amenity space can not be provided for each home, any shortfall will add to the 

requirement for communal amenity space;

4  Flatted development provides green communal amenity space for all residents 

and additional communal play areas for children (aged up to 16). The required 

amount of communal child play space will be calculated using the play space 

standards set out in Table 6. Communal amenity space should be designed 

to provide multiple benefits (e.g. recreation, food growing, habitat creation, 

SUDS). In exceptional circumstances, where communal amenity space and child 

play space cannot be provided on site, we will seek a financial contribution 

towards improving existing play space provision in the vicinity of the site;

48



40 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

5  The external appearance of the development is tenure blind;

6  All homes meet planning practice guidance set out in BRE’s Site Layout 

Planning for Daylight and Sunlight – A Guide to Good Practice (1991).

reasons

Good quality housing helps to improve the health, safety, amenity and quality of life 

of current and future residents. Southwark has an aging population and we want all 

residents to be able to stay in their homes throughout different phases of their life into 

old age. We believe all residents are entitled to the same quality homes irrespective of 

tenure. Our residents have told us it is important for social sustainability and community 

cohesion that neighbours and visitors should not be able to perceive the tenure of a 

home by its appearance.

It is important that family housing provides private amenity space to ensure that children 

have somewhere safe to play or provides an outdoor space to dry clothes and to enjoy 

the outdoors. Communal play areas are important for children, parents and carers to 

exercise and socialise.

49



41 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Table 5: Minimum internal space standards

Number of 
bedrooms 

(b)

Number of 
bed spaces 
(persons) 

1 storey 2 storey 3 storey 
Built-in 
Storage 
(sqm)

1b
1p 39 (37) 1

2p 50 58 1.5

2b
3p 61 70

2
4p 70 79

3b

4p 74 84 90

2.55p 86 93 99

6p 95 102 108

4b

5p 90 97 103

3
6p 99 106 112

7p 108 115 121

8p 117 124 130

5b

6p 103 110 116

3.57p 112 119 125

8p 121 128 134

6b
7p 116 123 129

4
8p 125 132 138

50



42 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Table 6: Play space standards – child bed space yield (Up to age 16)

A minimum of 10sqm of play space per child bed space is required within the 

development. 1 child yield = 1 child bed space.

tenure Number of 
Bedrooms Child Yield Child Play Space 

requirement (sqm)

Market and 
Intermediate

2 bedroom flats 0.10 1

3 bedroom flats 0.58 5.8

2 bedroom houses 0.12 1.2

3 bedroom houses 0.44 4.4

4 bedroom houses 1.04 10.4

5 bedroom houses 1.19 11.9

Social Rent

1 bedroom 
dwellings 0.20 2

2 bedroom 
dwellings 0.95 9.5

3 bedroom 
dwellings 1.83 10.83

4 bedroom 
dwellings 2.92 29.2

5 bedroom 
dwellings 3.99 39.9

51



43 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM12  tall buildings
Tall buildings are significantly higher than surrounding buildings or their context. The 

highest tall buildings will be located in our Regeneration Areas. This is where the highest 

public transport accessibility levels and densities are located and where there is the 

greatest opportunity for regeneration.

Planning permission will be granted for tall buildings that:

 a Are located at a point of landmark significance and have a height that is  

 proportionate to the significance of the proposed location and the size of  

 the site; and

 b  Respond positively to local character and the existing townscape; and

 c  Are of exemplary architectural design and residential quality as set out in  

 policy DM8; and

 d  Make a positive and considered contribution to the London skyline   

 and landscape, taking into account the cumulative effect of existing or   

 emerging proposals or clusters; and

 e  Have no harmful impact on strategic views set out in the London Views  

 Management Framework and to the borough views; and

 f  Avoid unacceptable harm to the significance of designated heritage   

 assets or their settings; and

 g  Avoid harmful environmental impacts including wind shear,    

 overshadowing and solar glare; and

 h  Maximise energy efficiency and prioritise the use of sustainable materials;  

 and

 i  Are designed to have a positive relationship with the public realm,   

 provide opportunities for new street trees, and lower floors that   

 successfully relate to a positive pedestrian experience.

Buildings above a height of 30 metres or 25m in the Thames Policy Area must also:

 j  Provide a new, functional public space that is proportionate in size to the  

 height and size of the proposed building. 

52



44 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Buildings above a height of 60 metres must also:

 k  Deliver publically accessible space at or near to the top of the building;   

 and

 l Incorporate communal facilities for users and residents. 

reasons

The significance of a location will be defined by its close proximity to the confluence of 

strategic routes, major public transport stations, strategic locations that have a regional 

or borough importance (e.g. Burgess Park) and the scale of the existing townscape. The 

significance of a location is likely to diminish the further away a site is from these factors.

Tall buildings, if designed thoughtfully, can be an important component in raising 

population density, avoiding urban sprawl and contributing to an area’s regeneration. 

However, tall buildings can look out of place in their surroundings and cause unpleasant 

environmental effects, especially on the location’s micro-climate. 

We have taken a consistent approach when planning for tall buildings and use a number 

of criteria to determine applications. We will continue to use this approach alongside the 

Historic England/CABE guidance on tall buildings that gives additional information on the 

suitable locations and design of tall buildings.

DM13  efficient use of land 
1 Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1.1 Ensures that the underutilisation or overdevelopment of sites is avoided;

1.2 Does not unreasonably compromise the development potential of, or 

legitimate activities on, neighbouring sites;

1.3 Makes adequate provision for servicing, circulation and access to, from and 

through the site.

2 Planning permission will be granted for appropriate temporary ‘meanwhile 

uses’ where they deliver community benefits and do not compromise the 

future redevelopment of the site.

53



45 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

Urban land is a vital, finite resource that must be efficiently used to reduce pressure on 

rural land and open spaces. In Southwark, increasing density in the Central Activities 

Zone, Opportunities Areas and major town centres is a key requirement for the 

sustainable use of land. By increasing the number of people who visit, work and live in 

an area, more services and infrastructure can be supported thereby reducing the need 

to travel and contributing to the vitality of an area. However, densities that are too high 

could have a harmful impact on the environment and quality of life and would not be 

supported. Meanwhile uses are supported as they can ensure that buildings or land that 

are temporarily vacant are efficiently used in a way that delivers community benefits.

DM14 listed buildings and structures
Planning Permission and/or Listed Building Consent will only be granted for development 

that:

1 Avoids unjustifiable harm to the significance of listed buildings and structures 

and their settings by conserving and enhancing:

1.1 The historic fabric, architectural style and features, construction methods, 

curtilage, site layout, plan form and readability, and land use; and

1.2 The contribution of the building to its setting or its place within a group; and

1.3 Views that contribute positively to the significance of the building or structure 

or their setting.

2 Enables the viable use of listed buildings and structures that is consistent with 

their on-going and long term conservation.

3 Provides adequate justification for any harm to the significance of the listed 

building or structure that results from the proposal.

reasons

We recognise the importance of Southwark’s built heritage as a community asset and 

will seek the conservation and enhancement of this asset as required by the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Southwark has around 2500 listed 

buildings. These historic features can define local character, providing a sense of place 

and enriching the townscape. 

54



46 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

All applications for listed building consent will require a design statement, including 

details of the protection of any retained fabric, and a detailed statement setting out the 

justification, design approach and methods of any building work to the listed building.

DM15 Conservation areas
1  Planning permission and/or conservation area consent will only be granted for 

development that:

1.1 Conserves and enhances the significance of conservation areas, taking 

into account their local character, appearance and positive characteristics; 

published in Conservation Area Appraisals; and

1.2 Conserves and enhances the significance of a conservation area’s setting, 

including views to and from the area.

2 The demolition of buildings or structures that make a positive contribution 

to the historic character and appearance of a conservation area will not be 

generally supported. Any replacement buildings or structures must conserve 

and enhance the conservation area’s historic character and distinctiveness.

reasons

We recognise the importance of Southwark’s built heritage as a community asset 

and will seek the adequate safeguarding of this asset. These areas help define local 

character, providing a sense of place and enriching the townscape. The control of 

external appearances is important within conservation areas and where the quality of 

the environment is particularly high. Our published conservation area appraisals include 

detailed evaluations of the character and special features of each conservation area and 

provide additional supplementary guidance for developments affecting conservation 

areas. We are keen to encourage a high quality of design in conservation areas. This may 

include the use of modern materials or innovative techniques on new developments as 

they can sustain or enhance the character or appearance of the area. 

55



47 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM16 Conservation of the historic     
  environment and natural heritage
Planning permission will only be granted for development that:

1 Conserves and enhances the significance of the following heritage assets and 

their settings:

a Scheduled monuments;

b Protected London squares;

c Registered parks and gardens;

d Trees within the curtilage of a listed building;

e Trees that contribute to the historic character or appearance of conservation 

areas;

f Trees that are subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO)

g Ancient hedgerows; 

 Buildings and land with Article 4(1) directions inside and outside conservation 

areas.

2 Enables the viable use of the heritage asset that is consistent with its on-going 

and long term conservation;

3 Provides adequate justification for any harm to the significance of the heritage 

asset that results from the proposal.

reasons

Southwark possesses a wide variety array of historic assets of local, regional and national 

importance. They help define our historic character, provide a sense of place and enrich the 

townscape. 

56



48 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM17 Borough views
Development must positively enhance the following important borough views:

1 The panoramic north facing view from One Tree Hill;

2 The view of St Pauls Cathedral from Nunhead Cemetery;

3 The view of St Pauls Cathedral along Camberwell Road;

4 The view of Tower Bridge from Kings Stairs Gardens;

5 The view south from the centre of the Millennium Bridge;

6 The view of St Pauls Cathedral along Great Guildford Street.

reasons

Borough views are significant views and panoramas that make a positive contribution to 

experiencing Southwark’s position in London, informing how we are located in an historic 

and important world city.

DM18 archaeology  
1 Within Class One Archaeological Priority Zones (APZs), planning permission will 

only be granted for development that:

1.1 Conserves the archaeological resource commensurate to its significance; and 

has been informed by a prior archaeological assessment and trench-based 

archaeological evaluation to assess the archaeological significance; or

1.2 Has been informed by prior archaeological assessment and is designed to 

preserve potential archaeological significance on site through minimising 

foundation and construction impacts.

2 Planning permission will only be granted for proposals that result in a loss of 

the archaeological significance of sites in Class One Archaeological Priority 

Zones if they offer significant public benefits or an assessment and trench-

based archaeological evaluation demonstrates existing substantial loss of or 

damage to the archaeological significance of a site. In these circumstances, 

the excavation, recording, archiving, publication and display of a site will be 

required. Proposals must include details of how archaeological works will be 

made publically accessible. 

57



49 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

3 Within Class Two Archaeological Priority Zones, planning permission will 

only be granted for development that assesses the archaeological resource. 

Proposals that are granted planning permission will be conditioned to achieve 

the preservation, recording, archiving, publication and display of a site 

according to its significance.

4 In proposals outside Archaeological Priority Zones, proposals will be assessed 

against the historic environment record for Southwark. If archaeological 

significance is identified within the proposed site, planning permission will be 

granted with appropriate conditions to achieve the preservation, recording, 

archiving, publication and display of the site according to its significance.

reasons

Southwark has an immensely important archaeological resource. Increasing evidence 

of those peoples living in Southwark before the Roman and medieval period is being 

found in the north of the borough and on sites to the north and south of the Old Kent 

Road. The Roman provincial capital (Londinium) crossed the river and in Southwark was 

focused on two islands that made up the southern bridgehead of the only river crossing 

over the Thames at the time and settled areas to the south. Remains of Roman buildings, 

industry, ports, boats, roads, temples and cemeteries have been discovered since the mid 

1940s. The importance of the area during the medieval period is equally well attested, 

both archaeologically and historically. Elsewhere in Southwark the routes of Roman 

roads (along the Old Kent Road and Kennington Road) and the historic village cores of 

Peckham, Camberwell, Walworth and Dulwich, also have the potential for the survival 

of archaeological remains from many periods. We will also consider the designation and 

the class of archaeological priority zones as new archaeological work and discoveries are 

made.

A schedule of new Archaeological Priority Zones are set out in Appendix 8.

58



50 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 4: New Archaeological Priority Zones (APZs)

59



51 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM19  world heritage Sites
Planning permission will only be granted for development that sustains and enhances 

the significance of the Outstanding Universal Value of World Heritage Sites and their 

settings, including within views in, out and across the sites.

reasons

The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) recognises 

World Heritage Sites as internationally important with each having an inscription that 

details their Outstanding Universal Value. New development must consider the impact 

on the setting of the three World Heritage Sites that are located in central London. The 

three sites are:

1 Westminster Abbey, the Palace of Westminster and St Margaret’s Church;

2 Tower of London;

3 Maritime Greenwich.

Consideration should also be given to the Statement of Outstanding Universal Value 

(SOUV) and the management plans of the World Heritage Sites that are named in the 

policy, as they contain further information on how the World Heritage Site is protected 

and managed. 

DM20  river thames
Planning permission will be granted for development in the Thames Policy Area that:

1 Integrates successfully with the waterspace in use, appearance and physical 

impact;

2 Maintains and enhances the existing facilities that support and increase the use 

and enjoyment of the river and the functions and activities associated with the 

Thames in the Thames Policy Area, including:

2.1 Access points to and alongside the river, including stairs, piers and the Thames 

Path

2.2 Docks, including protection against partial or complete infilling;

2.3 Mooring facilities;

60



52 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

2.4 Facilities for passenger, freight and tourist traffic;

2.5 Sport and leisure facilities.

3 Establishes or continues the River Thames Path along the water frontage and 

encourages new access points to the River Thames;

4 Avoids unacceptable harm or effects on navigation, biodiversity or the existing 

character of the Thames Policy Area if proposing new mooring facilities;

5 Does not extend developed land or result in a continuous line of moored craft;

6 Maintains, remediates and improves flood defence walls for developments 

adjacent to the River Thames. Developments adjacent to defences and culverts 

should demonstrate that their development will not undermine the structural 

integrity or detrimentally impact upon its intended operation;

7 Provides landmarks that are of cultural and social significance along the river, 

providing orientation points and pleasing views without causing undue harm 

to the cohesiveness of the water’s edge;

8 Successfully relates scale, materials, colour and richness of detail, not only 

to direct neighbours but also to buildings on the opposite bank and those 

seen in the same context with the river, or within borough or London Views 

Management Framework views. Such a position of buildings should take 

into account how the river meanders and the impact these can have on how 

buildings may be seen together. Proposals for tall buildings should be set at 

least one block back from the river bank.

reasons

The strategic importance and unique character of the River Thames needs to be 

maintained and enhanced to enable the use and enjoyment of the Thames for all. The 

River Thames and its hinterland comprise the Thames Policy Area. The Thames Policy 

Area makes an important historical and environmental contribution to Southwark and 

London enabling significant recreation, tourism, nature conservation and open space 

provision. This is a busy tourist area which is environmentally sensitive and subject to 

intense development pressure. Access and maintenance to the river is important to 

achieve this, along with repair of and raising of the river defence wall and expansion of 

the pathway to incorporate drainage and flood mitigation.

Best start in life

61



53 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM21 education places
1 Planning permission will be granted for proposals of high design quality that 

provide more pre-school, school, higher and further education places where 

there are shared facilities with the community. 

2 Development must not lead to the loss of existing educational facilities unless 

there is reprovision of the school places in an area of identified need or they are 

surplus to requirements. 

reasons

Education facilities in Southwark will be expanded and enhanced to meet the needs 

of a growing population and giving our population the best start in life. Southwark is 

investing in education, so that the growing population has access to excellent learning 

facilities everywhere in Southwark. Education facilities significantly enhance the economy 

and contribute to regeneration by complementing existing uses. 

DM22  Student homes
Planning permission will be granted for student homes in Regeneration Areas to support 

the growth of universities and colleges where: 

1 Schemes providing direct let student rooms at market rent provide 35% of the 

Gross Internal Area as conventional affordable housing, and 27% of student 

rooms let at a rent that is affordable to students;

2 Schemes providing affordable student rooms for nominated further and higher 

institutions provide as much conventional affordable housing as is viable;

3 Adequate living space is provided; 

4 10% of student rooms are easily adaptable for occupation by wheelchair users;

5 There is an excellent public transport  accessibility level;

6 The development would not harm local character or residential amenity 

through an over-concentration of student homes.

Best start in life

62



54 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

There is a need for more student accommodation across the whole of London. However 

this needs to be balanced with making sure we have enough sites for other types 

of homes, including affordable and family homes. Whilst London as a whole has a 

recognised need for more student bed spaces, we have the second largest number of 

student homes in London.

Our Strategic Housing Market Assessment highlights an acute need for more family 

and affordable housing. Allowing too much student accommodation will restrict 

our ability to deliver more family and affordable housing. By requiring an element of 

affordable housing or a contribution towards affordable housing from student housing 

development we can make sure we work towards meeting the strategic need for student 

accommodation and our local need for affordable homes including affordable family 

homes. 

63



55 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM23  transition of preferred industrial   
  locations to mixed use        
  neighbourhoods
The Southwark Core Strategy designates preferred industrial locations on Old Kent Road, 

South East Bermondsey, Mandela Way and Parkhouse Street. The New Southwark Plan 

will review these designations. Site specific policies (site allocations) for this land will be 

set out in the Old Kent Road AAP and the New Southwark Plan. These will aim to intensify 

development, increase job numbers and promote growth of business uses within new 

mixed use neighbourhoods. In the meantime there will be no loss of employment space 

unless there are community or other uses that will develop the local infrastructure. In 

addition, financial contributions will be required for future infrastructure funding for the 

Bakerloo Line extension.   

reasons

Demand for business space in the borough is changing and while use of land for 

manufacturing and large scale warehousing and logistics is declining, demand for 

business space which services central London’s economy is increasing. We want to use 

this opportunity to increase the number of jobs and businesses and help regenerate 

areas such as the Old Kent Road. It is important that the new business space suits the 

needs of occupiers and the type and nature of space will be expected to comply with 

DM policies on office and business development and small business units. Through 

the Old Kent Road AAP and New Southwark Plan site allocations we will set out 

appropriate mixes of uses that promote growth of new neighbourhoods and also 

explore potential to address impacts on existing businesses which may be affected. New 

mixed use neighbourhoods will require significant investment in new infrastructure. 

This includes transformation of the Old Kent Road itself and the quality of the public 

realm, reinforcement of pedestrian and cycle networks, improvements in the open space 

network and social infrastructure such as schools and health facilities. The Bakerloo 

line extension could help drive growth and regeneration but it has a significant cost. 

New development will be expected to help fund and provide the infrastructure that is 

required.

Strong, local economy

64



56 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM24 office and business development
In Regeneration Areas:

1 Planning permission will be granted for business (Use Class B1) floorspace; 

2 Development must retain or increase existing levels of business (B Use Classes) 

floorspace except where there is no demand for either the continued use of the 

site for business or for redevelopment involving reprovision. This needs to be 

demonstrated by a rigorous marketing exercise for 18 months.

reasons

Our evidence suggests that around 47,000 new office jobs will be created in Southwark 

over the period leading up to 2036 and this would require around 530,000sqm of new 

office space. The retention of existing small and medium enterprises will support jobs to 

remain in Southwark and established local economies to grow alongside new uses. We 

want to promote the creation of new jobs alongside ensuring that there is a supply of 

sites and premises for businesses to grow. The approach is to focus on the Regeneration 

Areas to either retain or reprovide employment unless there is no demand. This will retain 

diversity and encourage new small, medium and large businesses.

Business uses improve the popularity, vitality and viability of the centres. Outside of the 

Regeneration Areas and town centres releasing employment sites for other uses can 

contribute towards new housing and services.

DM25  railway arches 
Planning permission will be granted for business uses (B Use Classes), retail (A Use Classes) 

and community facilities (D Use Classes) in railway arches.

reasons

Southwark Council is supporting and encouraging creative and vibrant uses within the 

over 800 railway arches. They are cheap spaces to rent and are well suited to ‘incubating’ 

smaller businesses and helping them to grow. They also add character and are interesting 

places for shops, cultural and community uses and restaurants. 

65



57 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Railway arches within site allocations will need to comply with those allocations. The 

Old Kent Road AAP will provide policy for assessing railway arches in the Old Kent Road 

opportunity area.

DM26   Small business units 
In Regeneration Areas:

1 Development should retain small business units except where there is no 

demand for business use. 

2 Planning permission will be granted for small businesses units where these 

incorporate a range of unit sizes and types and are well designed and 

flexible. Opportunities for long term management of the units by a company 

specialising in the management of space for small businesses should be fully 

explored. Furthermore there should be consideration of the feasibility of 

clustering non-residential uses in single use buildings (horizontal mixed use) 

and a full fit out.

3 Where existing SMEs are at risk of displacement from a development there 

should be full consideration of the feasibility of providing affordable and 

suitable space for existing occupiers in the completed development.

reasons

Small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) are vulnerable to displacement by other uses 

and therefore need protection. They are the majority of businesses in Southwark providing 

jobs for local people and opportunities for business start-ups and self-employment. It is 

important that units are flexible and designed to meet the needs of local businesses. The 

management of small business units by specialist companies will help ensure the success 

and long term retention of the space.

66



58 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM27 town and local centres
1 New developments for retail and other town centre uses should be located in 

town and local centres:

 Table 7: Town and local centres

2 In town and local centres, planning permission will be granted for a range of 

town centres uses, markets, community, civic and cultural uses and residential 

homes, provided that:

2.1 The scale and nature of the proposal is appropriate to the role and catchment 

of the centre;

2.2 A Use Classes are retained or replaced by an alternative use that provides a 

service to the general public and would not harm the vitality and viability of 

the centre; and

Designation town centre

Major Town Centres

•	 Elephant & Castle (including                     

Walworth Road)

•	 Peckham 

•	  Canada Water

District Town Centres

•	 Bankside and The Borough

•	  London Bridge

•	  Camberwell

•	  Lordship Lane

•	  Herne Hill

Local Centres

•	 The Blue

•	 Dulwich Village

•	  Nunhead

•	  Tower Bridge Road

•	  Old Kent Road/East Street

67



59 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

2.3 The proposals would not harm the amenities of surrounding occupiers or result 

in a concentration of uses that harms the character of the area; and

2.4 The proposal provides an active use at ground floor in locations with high 

footfall; and 

2.5 Large schemes for town centre uses that are 1,000sqm or over provide public 

toilets.

reasons

Town and local centres provide important services and facilities for the borough’s 

residents and should be the main focus for new developments for town centre uses. Our 

aim is to increase the amount of shopping space in our centres and improve the choice 

of goods and services, particularly at Elephant and Castle/Walworth Road, Canada Water 

and Peckham which have the most capacity for growth. As well as improving choice, this 

should reduce the number of trips made to places further away and also boost the local 

economy. Our town and local centres are changing and whilst their role as shopping 

destinations are still very important, other activities and uses, such as offices, community 

facilities, cultural uses and new homes will also help make them more vibrant and 

sustainable places.

A list of revised town centre boundaries is included in Appendix 2.

DM28 Development outside town centres
Developments for town centre uses located outside town and local centres must comply 

with the sequential test. Large developments, over 1,000sqm (gross), should provide an 

impact assessment and demonstrate that they would not harm the vitality and viability 

of centres or planned investment in centres. 

reasons

Town and local centres should be the main focus for new developments for town centre 

uses. A large development of 1,000sqm could equal or exceed the need for shopping 

floorspace in the short term (up to 2021) in some areas of the borough and therefore 

could have a significant detrimental impact on the vitality and viability of nearby centres.

68



60 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM29 Protected shopping frontages
Planning Permission will be granted for changes of use in protected shopping frontages 

where: 

1 The proportion of units in A1 Use Class in primary and secondary frontages 

does not fall below the percentages set out in Table 8 below; and

2 The premises have been rigorously marketed for A1 Use Class over an 18 month 

period prior to a planning application where the existing use class is A1 Use 

Class; and 

3 The proposed use provides uses within the A Use Class or provision of a service 

involving visits to the premises by members of the public.

Table 8: Protected shopping frontages proportions

Shopping frontages
Proportion 

of retail
    (a1 use Class)

Primary shopping 
frontages

Peckham 85%

Elephant and Castle/
Walworth Road 75%

Camberwell 60%

Lordship Lane 55%

The Blue 70%

CAZ shopping 
frontages in Borough 

and Bankside and 
London Bridge 

opportunities areas

40%

Secondary shopping frontages 50%

69



61 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

Shopping is the main reason for visiting the borough’s centres and it is important that we 

maintain high proportions of shops in retail use (Use Class A1), especially where there are 

main concentrations in the primary shopping frontages. In the secondary and CAZ shopping 

frontages, whilst shops (Use Class A1) are important, there is a greater diversity of activities 

and services. Maintaining a healthy balance of uses is vital to protecting the vitality and 

viability of our centres.

A list of proposed primary and secondary shopping frontages is included in Appendix 3.

DM30  Shops outside protected shopping   
  frontages, town and local centres
Outside the town and local centres and the protected shopping frontages, local shops 

and other local services will be safeguarded and supported to meet the day-to-day needs 

of the residents.

Planning permission will be granted for development that loses A Use Class floorspace 

where: 

1 A marketing exercise for 18 months demonstrates that the current use is 

financially unviable and that there is no need for A uses; and

2 There are alternative A Use Class shops within a 400 metre walking distance. 

reasons

Local shops provide an important service for communities. They can provide a 

convenient service to help to make people feel part of a community and do their 

shopping without difficult or expensive travel. 

70



62 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM31  Shop fronts
Planning permission will be granted for shop fronts and shop front signage that:

1 Ensures that the proportion, scale, style, detailing, colour and materials make a 

positive contribution to the host building and its context; and

2 Retains and refurbishes existing traditional and historic shop fronts and 

features when located within heritage assets, conservation areas or the setting 

of heritage assets; and

3 Is adequately lit for its context; and

4 Utilises internal security grilles and security solutions; and 

5 Retains or provides a shop window if part of a change of use within town 

centres; and

6 Does not support the use of external mounted shutter housings and solid roller 

shutters.

reasons

The retention of historic shop fronts and the provision of high quality new shop fronts 

encourage a welcoming environment. Shop fronts and signage make important 

contributions to the appearance of our town centres and shopping parades. However, 

some new shop fronts or alterations to existing shop fronts can harm visual amenity and 

local character with poor quality design, materials, signage and security shutters. 

71



63 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM32  Betting shops, pawnbrokers and   
  pay day loan shops
Planning permission will be granted for betting shops, pay day loan shops and 

pawnbrokers in protected shopping frontages provided that:

1 The number of these types of shops would not comprise more than 5% of the 

total number of units within the protected shopping frontages; and

2 The number of betting shop, pawnbrokers or pay day loan shops would not be 

above 1 per 21 premises (10 on either side of the proposal).

reasons

Concern has been raised by the community about the number and the resulting impact 

of the clustering of these shops on the diversity of shopping frontages and the choice 

available. Too many in one area can lead to a negative impact on the vitality and viability 

of a town centre, discourage investors from locating there and affect the quality of life of 

those living nearby. This can result in the perception that a centre’s retail offer is weak and 

that the centre is in decline.

DM33 hotels and other visitor      
  accommodation
Planning permission will be granted for:

1 Hotels and other forms of visitor accommodation within Regeneration Areas 

that do not harm local character or amenity; 

2 Supporting ancillary facilities in hotel developments that provide additional 

employment and encourage wider use of the building to benefit the local 

community and passing public.

reasons

We will support proposals for new hotels, particularly those which contribute to 

employment growth and offer employment opportunities for local people. Proposals that 

also incorporate a range of day time uses which can provide additional employment will 

be considered favourably. Such uses may include hotel receptions, café and restaurants, 

72



64 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

conference facilities and meeting rooms, salons and other ancillary supporting space that 

can be made available for use by the local community as well as visitors staying at the hotel, 

whilst also activating the street frontage. 

DM34 Pubs 
1 Planning permission will not be granted for development that results in the loss 

of a pub unless the retention of a pub is financially unviable, as demonstrated 

through evidence of suitable marketing for a continuous period of at least 18 

months.

2 Alterations that do not lead to the loss of a pub but that do lead to loss of 

cellarage or changes to a pub that make it unviable will not be permitted.

3 Where a change of use is acceptable, development must retain the design, 

character and heritage value of the building where it makes a positive 

contribution to street scene and local character.

4 The registration of a pub as an Asset of Community Value will be treated as a 

significant material consideration.

reasons

The number of pubs across London has been declining, while the number of cafés and 

restaurants has been growing. Many pubs have been demolished, whilst others have 

been converted into new homes while retaining their existing structure. A number have 

changed into other commercial uses and have lost their appearance and usage as a public 

house. Nevertheless there is still a market for pubs given the right management and sales 

offer. They provide a positive economic role in contributing to the vibrancy and vitality 

of shopping areas. Many pubs make a strong contribution to the historic character of an 

area, particularly through  the features of the building itself and by historical and cultural 

connection to the local area. Pubs that have been designated as Assets of Community 

Value are recognised by local residents and the council as having an important place and 

role within our communities.

73



65 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM35  access to employment and training
Development proposals that include: 

1 5,000sqm or more of new or improved floorspace must provide training and 

jobs for local people in the construction stage;

2 2,500sqm or more of new or improved non-residential floorspace must provide 

training and jobs for local people in the final development;

3 1,000sqm or more of floorspace must allow local businesses to tender for 

the procurement of goods and services generated by the development both 

during and after construction;

4 The loss of employment floorspace in the Regeneration Areas and town centres 

must provide a financial contribution to help provide training and jobs for local 

people. 

reasons

This approach overcomes barriers to employment as it promotes a targeted approach to 

improve employment participation within Southwark and an entrepreneurial approach to 

business, especially amongst young people.

DM36  outdoor advertisements and signage
Advertisement Consent will be granted for outdoor advertisements and signage that:

1 Avoid unacceptable harm to public amenity. Advertisements and signage 

should be designed so that their size, scale, type and illumination ensure that 

they form an integral and unobtrusive part of the site, taking into account site 

context and local character;

2 Avoid harm to the significance of heritage assets or their settings;

3 Do not compromise safety, security and obscure highway sightlines and allow 

the free movement along the public highway by all users, including people 

with disabilities, especially the visually impaired;

4 Doe not adversely impact on trees on or in close proximity to the proposed 

site, especially those protected by Tree Protection Orders (TPOs) or within 

conservation areas.

74



66 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

Signage is essential to the economy and often provides necessary and important 

information. Signage can have a disproportionate impact on the environment and must be 

carefully controlled to avoid detriment to the streetscape. The increasing use of hoardings 

can cause such adverse effects but, in some circumstances, can be positively used around 

construction sites to add interest and colour on a temporary basis. As many signs are 

located within or beside the highway, care must also be taken to ensure that safety and free 

movement within the highway is protected.

DM37 Broadband and telecommunications
Development should seek to enable high speed broadband for future occupants and users. 

Telecommunications equipment and telecommunications development must:

1 Be designed and sited to avoid harmful impacts on public amenity or 

unacceptable street clutter in the public realm;

2 Avoid harm to the significance of heritage assets or their settings and support 

local distinctiveness;

3 Demonstrate an absence of alternative sites, including, but not only, the 

possibility of sharing of existing masts and sites;

4 Provide self-certification to the effect that a mobile phone base station when 

operational will meet the International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation 

Protection guidelines; or

5 Provide a statement for each site indicating its location, the height of the 

antenna, the frequency and modulation characteristics and details of power 

output and where a mobile phone base station is added to an external mast 

or site, confirmation that the cumulative exposure will not exceed the ICNIRP 

guidelines.

75



67 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

Digital connectivity is an important utility. Effective communications networks are vital in 

the efficient operation of business and home life, and have benefits for safety and security. 

High speed broadband can help businesses, including SMEs, to increase efficiencies and 

work in partnership with others, thereby realising their full economic potential and driving 

jobs and economic growth. They can also help residents to access information, products 

and services more easily. We will ensure that areas with low or poor digital connectivity 

are enhanced. However, poorly sited telecommunications installations can be unsightly in 

particular when situated close to historic buildings or places. 

76



68 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM38 healthy developments 
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Improves access to health care, promotes social interaction and promotes 

physical activity;

2 Provides new outdoor and indoor sports facilities, including playing pitches.

reasons

There are many factors that can influence people’s physical, social and psychological 

wellbeing. As well as health facilities, having an active lifestyle, opportunities to work 

and learn, social interaction and a healthy diet are all determinants of good health and 

wellbeing. 

DM39 leisure, arts and culture
Planning permission will be granted for:

1 New leisure, arts and cultural uses;

2 Development that retains or reprovides existing leisure, arts and cultural uses 

unless it is surplus to requirements;

3 Development that delivers or supports the delivery of public art projects.

reasons 

Southwark is a creative place to live, work and learn because there is such a thriving leisure, 

arts and cultural sector. They are essential for the regeneration and distinctiveness of areas 

making a positive contribution to the day, evening and night-time economies. A vibrant 

arts, leisure and cultural scene will bring employment, engage local people and visitors, 

and create opportunities for training and learning. 

healthy, active lifestyles

77



69 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Southwark has a history of great public art and projects that contribute to our world 

renowned cultural offer, our burgeoning creative economy and the cultural wellbeing 

of our borough. We recognise the important role that public art projects have in making 

Southwark a more interesting and enjoyable place to live, work and visit. Its social and 

cultural qualities can contribute to improved health outcomes, wellbeing and community 

development initiatives. Public art projects support economic development through 

enhancing the design of buildings and the public realm and play a role in place making, 

which attracts inward investment and cultural tourism for the benefit of both the cultural 

sector and the broader business sector.

DM40 Flexible community uses
1 Planning permission will be granted for proposals for new community facilities 

to meet local need that are available for use by all members of the community;

2 Development must retain community facilities except where there is no 

demand. This needs to be demonstrated by a marketing exercise for 18 

months. 

reasons

Southwark’s population is diverse, and displays significant contrasts in characteristics. 

We have a role to play in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 

communities. We need to ensure that everyone has access to a variety of good quality 

community facilities, which promote healthier lifestyles and enable people to meet their 

day to day needs. Community facilities will be incorporated into larger developments, or 

planned as stand alone facilities, and will often be designed to facilitate opportunities for 

interaction between members of the community who might not otherwise come into 

contact with each other. The provision of community and health facilities often provides 

wider benefits to the local community, including the creation of jobs and encouraging new 

businesses to locate near to the facility. An example of this could be locating chemists or 

pharmacies near to walk-in health centres, or a gym or fitness centre with a day-care facility 

near to a hospital.

78



70 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM41 hot food takeaways
Planning permission will be granted for hot food takeaways (A5 Use Class) in protected 

shopping frontages provided that:

1 The number of A5 premises would not comprise more than 5% of the total 

number of units in the protected shopping frontages; 

2 The concentration of A5 premises would not be above 1 per 21 premises (10 on 

either side of the proposal);

3 The proposed location is further than 400 metres from any secondary school 

boundary. 

reasons

Hot food takeaways (Use Class A5) can offer a popular service to local communities and 

provide employment/business opportunities. However, in the interests of the health of 

residents, particularly children, as well as ensuring a mix of different uses in shopping 

frontages, the numbers of A5 uses need to be carefully controlled. 

Pupils in primary education should not be allowed out of school premises during the 

school day, and most primary school pupils will be accompanied home by an adult. 

Secondary school pupils have more freedom during school hours and hot food takeaways 

located within walking distance of secondary schools are considered a contributing factor 

to the rising levels of obesity in children. It is for this reason that an exclusionary zone is set 

at a radius of 400 metres from secondary schools only (10 minute walk). The proximity of 

the exclusion zones around secondary schools to primary schools, and the restriction of 

growth of Use Class A5 in shopping frontages, will also assist in limiting the number of hot 

food takeaways located near primary schools.

79



71 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 5: New takeaway exclusion zones 

80



72 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM42 Public transport
Planning permission will be granted for development that: 

1  Demonstrates that the public transport network has sufficient capacity to 

support any increase in resulting trips, taking into account the cumulative 

impact of adjoining or nearby development;

2  Improves accessibility to public transport by creating walking and cycling 

connections to and from local public transport;

3 Supports public transport service improvements to maintain and enhance 

service quality.

reasons

The scale of development will be proportionate to public transport accessibility and the 

capacity of the transport network to absorb new trips that result. Improved quality and 

integration of public transport services will result in an improved journey experience for 

passengers using the network.

 

DM43 highways impacts 
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Minimises the demand for private car trips;

2 Demonstrates that the road network has sufficient capacity to support any 

increase in resulting trips, taking into account the cumulative impact of 

adjoining or nearby development;

3 Prevents or mitigates adverse impacts on the local road network, the bus 

network and the Transport for London Road Network to ensure safe and 

efficient operation;

4 Ensures safe, efficient delivery and servicing, and minimises the number of 

motor vehicle trips required;

5 Incorporates delivery and servicing within large development sites and not on 

the public highway;

6 Demonstrates that the construction phase of development can be 

accomplished safely, minimising vehicle movements with the movement of 

vehicles strictly controlled to reduce danger to vulnerable road users. 

81



73 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

The road network will be safe and efficient with negative impacts being mitigated.

DM44 walking
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Enhances the borough’s walking networks;

2 Provides exemplary facilities for pedestrians within the development and the 

surrounding area, ensuring access through development sites;

3 Ensures that facilities, routes and access are safe and designed to be inclusive 

and meet the needs of all pedestrians, with particular emphasis on disabled 

people and the mobility impaired. 

reasons

This policy will ensure the delivery of Southwark’s walking strategy so that Southwark will 

be fully accessible and streets and spaces will be welcoming, attractive and convenient 

for those on foot, leading to more people walking. 

DM45 low line walking routes
Planning permission will be granted for development that supports the implementation 

of ‘Low Line’ walking routes across the borough. Development that hinders the 

implementation or obstruction of the routes will not be supported

reasons

Southwark’s ‘Low Line’ walking routes that seek to link existing centres of activity and 

enterprise by creating new attractive routes alongside rail arches and viaducts and their 

associated spaces and streets. The Low Line routes will facilitate economic growth and 

improve access and permeability along the rail viaducts.

The indicative Low Line routes are in the following locations and set out in Figure 6:

•	 Waterloo to Maltby Street to Rotherhithe New Road

•	 Camberwell to River Thames

• Rye Lane to Old Kent Road, including the Peckham Coal Line

82



74 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

We are undertaking further work to assess the feasibility of these routes and are 

reviewing whether there are further areas that could be included. It is likely that new Low 

Line routes could utilise either or both sides of the railway arches, as well as new routes 

through arches.

Figure 6: Indicative Low Line walking routes

83



75 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM46 Cycling
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Ensures the delivery of the Southwark cycling spine and wider route network, 

as set out on the updated adopted policies map. All sites on or adjacent to the 

route network must support and integrate into the network;

2 Removes barriers and improves permeability, access and safety for cycling;

3 Enables the growth in cycling through the generous provision of cycle 

parking for building users and visitors to the development in accordance with 

Appendix 6. The provision of associated showers and changing facilities should 

be proportionate to the scale of cycle parking provided. Cycle parking should 

be designed to best practice standards and shall be secure, conveniently 

located, adequately lit and accessible. Cycle parking shall include an adequate 

element of parking suitable for accessible bicycles and tricycles;

4 Provides convenient, secure, weatherproof and fully accessible cycle parking 

for all, including disabled people and the mobility impaired;

5 Contributes towards the provision of cycle hire docking stations. The 

contribution, applicable to major development, will be commensurate to 

the size and scale of the proposal. This includes providing space within the 

development, where required for the expansion of the cycle hire scheme;

6 Provides a free two year cycle hire fob per dwelling where a docking station is 

located within 400m of the proposed development.

reasons

This policy will ensure the delivery of Southwark’s adopted cycling strategy so that cycling is 

an attractive option for many people. The strategy seeks to significantly increase the number 

of people who cycle and the number of trips made by bicycle, and to ensure our streets will 

be safe for cyclists.

84



76 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 7: Committed and future cycle routes from Southwark Cycling Strategy (2015)

85



77 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM47 Infrastructure improvements 
Planning permission will be granted for development that supports the implementation 

of the following strategic transport projects and initiatives:

1 The Bakerloo Line extension to Camberwell, Peckham and Old Kent Road;

2 A rail station at Camberwell;

3 The adopted cycle route network;

4 A walking and cycling bridge from Rotherhithe to Canary Wharf;

5 The Elephant and Castle northern roundabout project and the Northern Line 

ticket hall;

6 Bus priority measures.

7 Coal Line linear park in Peckham.

reasons

Planned increases in public transport capacity and quality, as well as walking and 

cycling routes, will increase accessibility and therefore unlock the potential for further 

development. This will facilitate the provision of more homes and jobs in Southwark. 

DM48 Car parking 
1  Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1.1 Is car free in areas of public transport accessibility level 5 or 6;

1.2 Minimises the number of spaces provided for car parking and adheres to the 

local standards based on public transport accessibility in accordance with 

Appendix 6. The demand for parking within Controlled Parking Zones (CPZ) 

and the impact on surrounding streets must also be taken into account;

1.3 Provides all car parking spaces within the development site and not on the 

public highway;

1.4 Ensures car parking within town centres for retail and leisure uses are 

shared with public parking and not reserved for customers of a particular 

development;

86



78 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

1.5 Ensures that any parking within the development provides facilities for the 

charging of electric vehicles;

1.6 Ensures off-street town centre car parking that is associated with new 

development:

a Contributes to the economic vitality of its location;

b Supports rapid turnover of spaces;

c Includes maximum stay restrictions;

d Provides alternative access to the use of a car by providing the required 

amount of parking spaces within the site for car club bays: and / or; a minimum 

of three years free membership per dwelling to a car club should a car club 

bay be located within 850m of the development;  and / or; a contribution 

towards the provision of new car club bays relevant to the size and scale of the 

development.

2 Development within existing or planned CPZs will not be eligible for on-street 

resident and business car-parking permit;

3 The subdivision of existing properties into smaller dwellings within a CPZ will 

only be eligible for one parking permit per original dwelling.

reasons

Southwark will grow sustainably without adverse environmental impacts through car 

free development in highly accessible areas and reduced reliance on the private car. 

87



79 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM49  Parking standards for disabled    
  people and the mobility impaired 
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Provides accessible car parking spaces to a maximum of one car parking space 

per wheelchair accessible unit, considering:

1.1  Anticipated demand for the space and tenure of the development;

1.2 The quality and accessibility of local public transport network and the access to 

local amenities; 

1.3 Car ownership levels within the borough.  

2 Ensures that car parking spaces provided for disabled people and the mobility 

impaired are: 

2.1  Located within the development in close proximity to the nearest entrance;

2.2  Located adjacent to lift cores and that entrance ramps are of sufficient height 

to accommodate higher vehicles (when parking is underground);

2.3  Designed to allow sufficient space to access the vehicle from both sides and at 

the rear of the vehicle;

2.4  Designed to enable easy manoeuvrability into and out of the space provided.

3 Ensures all spaces identified for people with disabilities or mobility 

impairments remain designated as such for the life of the development. Any 

spaces that remain unused must not be returned to the general car parking 

pool.

reasons

This policy will ensure that the mobility needs of disabled and mobility impaired 

people are provided consistently, conveniently and to a high standard. Requirements 

for additional accessible car parking spaces will correspond with the location of the 

development, demand and use of the development and the accessibility of the local 

public transport network and local amenities.

 

88



80 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM50  Protection of amenity 
Planning permission will be granted for development that does not cause an 

unacceptable loss of amenity to present or future occupiers or users.

reasons

The amenity of those living, working in or visiting Southwark needs to be protected, to 

ensure a pleasant environment. Factors that impact amenity can include visual, noise and 

smell.

DM51 Designing out crime 
Planning permission will be granted where:

1 Development has windows overlooking places such as parks and streets, 

courtyards, parking areas and civic spaces to provide natural surveillance;

2 Street network designs, pedestrian routes, footpaths and cycle paths are easy 

to navigate and there are permeable, direct routes that provide good visibility 

and avoid sharp or blind corners, tunnels, and hidden alcoves;

3 Clear and uniform signage helps people move around, making the public realm 

and public transport safer and more attractive for people to use;

4 Effective street lighting illuminates the public realm, enabling natural 

surveillance and avoiding the creation of dark, shadowed areas;

5 Clearly defined boundaries between public and private spaces reduce the 

likelihood of anti-social behaviour by establishing ownership and responsibility 

for a particular space;

6 Security considerations for buildings and places are proportional to their use 

and function, taking into account the need to avoid creating places that are 

hostile or unwelcoming;

7 Secured by Design principles are demonstrated.

Cleaner, Greener, Safer

89



81 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

Designing out crime is the process whereby streetscape, open spaces, buildings and 

transport infrastructure are positively influenced by practical design solutions to reduce 

the occurrence of crime and provide a safer and more attractive urban environment. 

Small changes such as creating well lit, overlooked spaces can significantly reduce 

opportunities to commit crime as well as fear of crime. Creating and maintaining a safe 

environment is extremely important as people who live in, work in, or visit the borough, 

have a right to expect that they can move about without unreasonable concern for their 

safety and can feel safe in their homes. It is also important to address the community’s 

‘fear of crime’, whether this is a real or perceived threat, because this also influences 

people’s behaviour patterns about how they interact in public spaces. Improving 

community safety involves designing the urban environment to enable the community 

to assume an ownership role for the guardianship of their local space. This helps inspire a 

sense of pride and encourages community use of public spaces within the private realm. 

DM52  open space and open water space
1 Planning permission will not be granted for development within a designated 

open space or open water space. In exceptional circumstances, we will 

consider: 

1.1 Ancillary facilities that positively contribute to the setting and quality of the 

open space, enhance public access and that do not affect the openness of the 

open space or detract from its character;

1.2 Replacement, extension of or alteration to an existing building, providing that 

it does not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the 

original building; and

1.3 For Other Open Space, development where land of equivalent or better size 

and quality is secured within the local catchment area for similar or enhanced 

use before development commences, provided that this would not result in 

an increase in district or local park deficiency as identified in the Open Space 

Strategy.

90



82 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

2 Development must sustain and enhance borough and regional open space 

initiatives and strategic networks such as the Green Chain walking route, and 

support new and existing green links and corridors across the borough and 

sub-regionally.

3 New publically accessible open space, green links and green infrastructure 

must be provided in major development. Such spaces should be designed 

to provide multiple benefits (e.g. recreation, food growing, habitat creation, 

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems).

reasons

Southwark has a wealth of open space of different types, including woodland, parks, 

community farms, cemeteries, Thames-side paths and sports pitches. We will need to 

maintain and improve the existing network to ensure that people who live and work 

in the borough experience the wide range of positive benefits associated with health 

and wellbeing, recreation, quality of life and cohesive communities that open space 

provides. Southwark’s areas of open space need to be protected, especially in areas of 

development pressure. 

Southwark’s open spaces vary in size and importance within three designations. Firstly, 

Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) protects strategically important spaces across London 

that are key parts of London’s physical structure and landscape, and which contribute 

to Londoners’ quality of life. Borough Open Land (BOL) is open space of borough-wide 

importance that contains features or landscapes of historic, recreational or nature 

conservation value at the borough level. Open Water Space would have a similar level 

of designation to Borough Open Land. Other Open Spaces (OOS) are locally important 

spaces.

A list of new open spaces is included in Appendix 4.

91



83 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM53 Biodiversity
1 Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1.1  Avoids material harm to biodiversity;

1.2 Includes features that enhance biodiversity in development, such as green and 

brown roofs, green walls, soft landscaping, nest boxes and habitat restoration 

and expansion, improved green links and buffering;

1.3 Supports the nature conservation value of Sites of Importance for Nature 

Conservation (SINCs) and local nature reserves (LNRs) and/or habitats, 

populations of protected species or priority habitats/species identified in the 

United Kingdom, London or adopted Southwark Biodiversity Action Plan.

2 Where material harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot 

be avoided, adequately mitigated or as a last resort, compensated for, then 

planning permission will be refused. 

reasons

We have a responsibility to protect and enhance biodiversity throughout Southwark and 

particularly to protect areas of nature conservation. We also recognise the important 

health and wellbeing benefits that contact with nature can provide to people. Due 

to the intense pressure on land for development, it is important that areas of nature 

conservation value or ecological importance are identified and the flora and fauna 

associated with these areas are protected and enhanced.

A list of new and amended Sites of Important Nature Conservation is included in 

Appendix 5.

92



84 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM54 trees
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Retains and enhances trees and canopy cover as part of the urban forest. 

Where trees are lost as a result of development, they should be replaced by 

new trees which result in no net loss of amenity, taking into account canopy 

cover  as measured by stem girth. If this is not possible a financial contribution 

must be provided to improve borough tree planting. Valuation of trees 

may be calculated using the Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees (CAVAT) 

methodology; 

2 Retains and protects existing significant trees:

2.1 Trees designated with Tree Protection Orders (TPOs);

2.2 Trees that have a high amenity value;

2.3 Trees within Conservation Areas;

2.4 Trees within the setting or curtilage of listed buildings;

2.5 Veteran, ancient and notable trees.

3 Plants trees as part of landscaping and public realm schemes that are 

commensurate to the scale and type of development and the character of the 

neighbourhood;

4 Ensures that retained trees are protected during the construction process in 

accordance with best practice guidance;

5 Plants appropriate native species of trees that have a long life and high 

biodiversity and amenity value.

reasons

Southwark’s trees are an asset to the borough as they provide many amenity, 

environmental and financial benefits that include softening of the landscape, providing 

habitats for biodiversity, providing shading and reducing the urban heat island effect. 

Trees also have an important role in enhancing air quality, reducing surface water 

flood risk and helping wayfinding and are an integral part of the historic townscape.  

When a development is proposed the overall amenity and landscape value will also be 

considered. This would include whether the proposed removal of trees would mean a 

long-term visual loss, whether there were enough existing trees to absorb any potential 

loss or whether a loss could improve amenity by revealing new views.

93



85 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM55 environmental Standards
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Achieves high standards of sustainable design and construction; 

2 Achieves a BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’ for major non-residential and non-self-

contained residential development.

reasons

Requiring development to meet high environmental standards will ensure more 

sustainable buildings and spaces than would be achieved through the statutory building 

regulations alone. Buildings that are designed to be sustainable will minimise their 

environmental impact and directly address their contribution to man-made climate 

change through looking at a range of measures related to  energy, CO2, water, materials, 

drainage, waste, pollution, health and wellbeing, management and ecology. The Building 

Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Methodology (BREEAM) ratings are 

the industry standard for sustainable design and construction. 

DM56  energy
1 Planning permission will be granted for development that minimises carbon 

dioxide emissions through the application of the Mayor’s energy hierarchy;

2 Planning permission will be granted for:

2.1 Major residential development that is zero carbon;

2.2 Major non-residential development that meets a carbon dioxide emissions 

saving target of a minimum of 50% on 2013 buildings regulations up to 2019 

and zero carbon from 2019 onwards.

2.3 Development that achieves the carbon dioxide reduction targets on site. 

In exceptional circumstances any short fall will be secured off site through 

planning obligations or a financial contribution. 

94



86 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

2.4 Major development that connects to existing or planned decentralised 

energy networks. Where connection to an existing or planned network is 

demonstrated not to be feasible, major development should prioritise use of a 

site wide Combined Heat and Power (CHP) communal heating system. Where 

CHP is feasible, the opportunity to oversize the CHP and extend the network to 

supply nearby buildings beyond the site should be evaluated and enacted.

reasons

Most carbon dioxide emissions come from heating, cooling and powering buildings 

accounting for 84% of emissions in Southwark. Reducing carbon dioxide emissions, 

especially through requiring zero carbon buildings, will contribute to objectives to 

reduce greenhouse gas emissions and tackle the effects of man-made climate change.

The Mayor’s energy hierarchy relies on three stages to reduce carbon dioxide emissions in 

new development: ‘being lean’ (energy efficient design); ‘being clean’ (clean, low carbon 

energy supply such as combined heat and power) and ‘being green’ (using renewable 

sources of energy). This is how a development’s overall carbon dioxide emissions 

reduction is calculated. 

A financial contribution towards off-site mitigation to replace any shortfall in reducing 

carbon dioxide emissions will be calculated using the per tonne cost in the Mayor’s 

Sustainable Design and Construction SPG.

Decentralised energy networks provide an important opportunity for reducing carbon 

emissions and fuel poverty in dense urban areas like Southwark. The policy therefore 

seeks to encourage the expansion of existing decentralised energy networks within the 

borough and, where this is not practicable, the development of new networks.  

95



87 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 8: Mayor’s energy hierarchy

 

CO2 emissions that will still be emitted from a 
development. 

Reduction in CO2 emissions at each stage 
of the energy hierarchy. 

Overall reduction in CO2 emissions from a 
combination of energy hierarchy stages. 

96



88 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM57 reducing waste
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Adequately provides recycling, composting and waste disposal, collection and 

storage facilities on site;

2 Has a suitable off-site waste management plan that does not adversely 

impact amenity, access or the environment where on-site waste management 

provision is not possible;

3 Demonstrates how the waste management hierarchy will be applied during 

construction.

reasons

If not properly managed, waste can have negative impacts on health and wellbeing, 

amenity and the environment, whether on-site or off-site. Providing waste facilities and 

implementing waste management plans for development will ensure that these impacts 

are reduced as much as possible. 

DM58  land for waste management
1 We will protect our existing waste management sites unless:

1.1 A site is surplus to requirements; or

1.2 Another facility is provided that meets the same throughput as the existing 

site.

2 Planning permission will be granted for new and extended waste management 

facilities that: 

2.1 Are in the optimum location; and

2.2 Apply the principles of sustainable waste management; and

2.3 Are safe, accessible and do not adversely impact local amenity.

reasons

Transporting and dumping waste into landfill causes harm to the environment. 

Southwark needs to have waste management facilities that are capable of processing 

247,000 tonnes of waste by 2036. The ‘Proximity Principle’ enables testing to ensure that 

97



89 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

sites are retained and developed to process waste as close to the source as possible. The 

principles of sustainable waste management ensure that waste is managed to minimise 

creating waste by avoiding waste, reusing, recycling and recovering energy from waste. 

A range of criteria will be assessed to determine optimum locations for waste facilities, 

including potential impacts on the environment or residential amenity.

DM59 environmental protection
1 Planning permission will not be granted for development that has a material 

adverse impact on the environment.

2 Planning permission will be granted for development that:

2.1 Ensures safe storage, transportation or usage of hazardous substances on a site; 

and

2.2 Remediates any contaminated land within the development site; and

2.3 Remediates any contaminated land outside of, but related to, the development 

site where the contaminated land would have an adverse effect on the 

occupiers of the new development; and

2.4 Effectively reduces and mitigates negative impacts of the construction process 

on the amenity of the neighbouring occupiers and the environment. 

reasons

Changes to the environment can have significant knock-on impacts for the ecology and 

biodiversity of a site and its surroundings. Sometimes these impacts are irreversible. We 

need to minimise adverse effects on the natural environment and its constituent parts 

such as soil, water, habitat and biodiversity. It is equally important to ensure there is no 

risk to the health, safety or amenity of users of the site and neighbouring occupiers. The 

effects of new development on the environment can be temporary, permanent and/

or cumulative and if these impacts are not identified at the design stage it can be much 

more difficult to add measures once a scheme is built. The temporary impacts of the 

construction process can be detrimental to the surrounding community so it is important 

that any such impacts arising from development are identified and reduced.

98



90 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM60 Improving air quality
1 Planning permission will be granted for development that: 

1.1 Achieves or exceeds air quality neutral standards; and

1.2 Reduces the exposure and mitigates the effects of poor air quality on occupiers 

and users of new development in the Air Quality Management Area, through 

design solutions that may include orientation and layout of buildings and 

ventilation systems.

2 Planning permission will be granted for major development that:

2.1 Provides measures to improve air quality on or as close to the site as possible 

where the site is located in an Air Quality Focus Area as set out in Figure 9. This 

must be achieved through measures beyond those implemented to achieve 

air quality neutral standards and will be commensurate to the scale of the 

development;

2.2 Provides a financial contribution towards improving air quality within the 

vicinity of the development in exceptional circumstances where opportunities 

to improve local air quality are not provided on site.

reasons

Poor air quality, which includes high concentrations of particulate matter (such as PM10 

and PM2.5) and nitrogen oxides (known as N0x) has a direct and adverse impact on the 

health and life expectancy of Londoners and on the natural environment. Developments 

that are Air Quality Neutral will help to minimise air pollution. Southwark has a 

designated Air Quality Management Area where our local air quality is below national 

standards. 

Motorised road vehicles are the main pollution source of concentrations of poor air 

quality. Requiring development to deliver measures to reduce air pollution in the 

borough’s road-based Air Quality Focus Areas will help address the areas worst affected 

by poor air quality.

99



91 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 9: Air Quality Management and Focus Areas

100



92 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM61 reducing noise pollution
Planning permission will be granted for development that:

1 Avoids a Significant Observed Adverse Effect level of noise that is generated by 

the development;

2 Mitigates and reduces any Observed Adverse Effect level of noise that 

is generated by the development. This should be achieved through the 

application of good acoustic design principles;

3 Mitigates and manages any noise pollution during the construction process to 

minimise harm to the amenity of present occupiers of the site and adjoining 

neighbours;

4 Mitigates and manages noise through the use of separation from major noise 

sources, distance and screening or internal layout in preference to the sole 

reliance on sound insulation for noise sensitive developments.

reasons

Noise can have a major detrimental impact on the quality of life of a user of a building or 

space. Effects can include stress, annoyance and sleep disturbance. It is important that 

noise management is considered as early as possible in the planning process and as an 

integral part of development proposals. Reducing noise pollution will minimise instances 

of such effects from unwanted noise. This can be achieved through an improved acoustic 

environment, incorporating appropriate soundscapes and ensuring development reflects 

good acoustic design principles, including traditional and innovative noise reduction 

measures. Major noise sources that can have a detrimental impact on surrounding 

occupiers of sites affected by noise can include roads, railways, industrial land uses, airline 

flight paths and demolition and construction activity. Noise sensitive development can 

include dwellings, schools, hospitals, law courts and libraries. 

101



93 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM62 reducing water use and improving   
  water quality
1 Planning permission will be granted for residential development that has a ‘safe 

to drink’ water use of no more than 105 litres per person per day, excluding an 

allowance of 5 litres or less per person per day for external water use; and

2 All new development must incorporate measures to:

2.1 Reduce the demand for mains water treated to drinking standard; and

2.2 Enable the use of grey water and/or rainwater for non drinking uses.

reasons

Currently, all mains water is treated to a drinking standard. This is an expensive and 

energy intensive process, particularly considering that at least 50% of water consumed in 

homes and workplaces does not need to be of drinkable quality. London’s consumption 

of water already outstrips available supplies in dry years. To remain sustainable London 

needs to reduce the level of water consumption per person. The need for this will be 

exacerbated by climate change impacts, which are predicted to include more sporadic 

and intense rainfall and a higher likelihood of droughts. Limiting the type of fittings 

that water-dispensing and consuming elements of a development can incorporate will 

contribute to ensuring the most efficient use of London’s limited water resources. 

DM63 reducing flood risk
1 Planning permission will only be granted for development that is designed to 

be safe and resilient to flooding where located within in an area of flood risk 

and meets the Exceptions test where located within Flood Zones 2 or 3.

2 Planning permission will be granted for major development that reduces 

surface water run-off by more than 50% relative to the existing run-off from the 

site, through the application of water sensitive urban design and Sustainable 

Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS). 

3 Where hard surfacing is proposed for front gardens, planning permissions will 

only be granted for permeable surfacing in order to reduce rain water runoff.

102



94 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

reasons

There is a risk of flooding in Southwark from two main sources. First is the tidal and 

river flooding from the River Thames. We are currently protected from this risk by the 

Thames Barrier. However, we still need to plan effectively to minimise risk should the 

barrier ever fail as a flood defence. Areas at risk of flooding from the Thames include 

the neighbourhoods in the north of Southwark which contains over two thirds of the 

borough’s properties in well established communities and our major regeneration areas.

The second risk of flooding is from the Critical Drainage Areas where there is a risk of 

surface water flooding during heavy rainfall. Water can rapidly pool in these drainage 

areas from the combination of too many hard surfaces which contribute to too much 

surface run-off, and local topography where hills and valleys form catchment basins for 

water. Surface water flooding events within Southwark, most notably in 1984, 2004 and 

2007, have shown the risk and impact of flooding on residential communities and public 

infrastructure. A site-specific flood risk assessment will ensure flood risk from surface 

water flooding is minimised. The rate of surface run-off (and so the related flood risk) can 

be significantly reduced through the careful design of developments and the inclusion of 

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS).

Planning permission is not currently required to pave over a front garden of a house as 

long as the surface is permeable. However planning permission is required where the 

proposal involves putting a non-permeable driveway surface down over an area of more 

than five square metres. The hard surfacing of front gardens increases water run-off when 

it rains, increasing flood risk, and also reduces habitat for wildlife. For these reasons the 

council seeks to encourage people to use permeable surfaces where practicable when 

surfacing their front gardens.

103



95 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Figure 10: Flood Risk Zones and Critical Drainage Areas

104



96 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

DM64  Infrastructure
Our approach is to work with infrastructure and utility companies and neighbouring 

boroughs to ensure large development is located in sustainable locations. We will also 

encourage developments in concentrated areas to explore shared servicing options 

and to ensure adequate infrastructure (both social and physical) is in place to support 

the occupants of developments through their lifetimes. Developments should consider 

the requirements and impacts on water and wastewater infrastructure and work with 

Thames Water to determine water supply and wastewater infrastructure capacity and any 

upgrade requirements. Development will be required to deliver supporting infrastructure 

at an early stage of development to ensure the impacts of development are effectively 

mitigated. 

DM65 Southwark CIl and Planning    
  obligations
Our approach is to ensure development mitigates its impact through the use of Planning 

Obligations, Southwark CIL and Mayoral CIL. Southwark CIL applies a standard charge to 

developments, as specified in Southwark’s CIL Charging Schedule. Planning obligations 

may still be applied to developments where mitigation of site-specific impacts is 

required.

To make a development acceptable in planning terms the Council may use planning 

obligations in relation to matters including (but not limited to):

• Infrastructure (transport, public realm, open space, sport, leisure and recreation,  

 public art, community, play space, education, child care, health,  utilities,   

 emergency services, trees and biodiversity, energy, climate change    

 adaptation  and mitigation)

• Affordable housing

• Small or affordable workspace

• Highway and footway reinstatement and highways agreement

• Travel plans

• Construction placements and training

Implementation

105



97 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

• Employment contribution (operation phase)

• Health Impact Assessment

• Community use agreements

The council’s Supplementary Planning Document provides further guidance on CIL and 

Section 106 planning obligations.

DM66 enforcement
Enforcement action will be taken against unauthorised development, in particular where 

it affects listed buildings, or is causing demonstrable harm to amenity.

DM67 Compulsory Purchase order
We will compulsorily purchase land when necessary to meet planning and regeneration 

objectives.

DM68 Monitoring
Our approach is to continue to monitor development to assess how the planning policies 

are working and responding to people’s needs in Southwark through the Authority 

Monitoring Report (AMR). The AMR covers the types of development and conservation 

taking place in Southwark by area, whether planning policies are making a difference and 

how the policies can be improved by future plan making. Appendix 7 sets out how we 

shall monitor the Plan over the plan period.

106



98 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

Contact us
Any enquiries relating to this document can be directed to the planning policy team:

Email:  planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk

Post: Planning policy team, Chief executive’s department, Southwark   

 Council, FreePoSt Se1919/14, london, Se1P 5lX.

Telephone:  020 7525 5471

This document can be viewed at www.southwark.gov.uk/planningpolicy

araBIC

BeNGalI

FreNCh

وهي تنص على مايؤثر في قرارت تنطيم الاراضي التخطيط والتنمية في اصدر هذه الوثيقة  فريق التخطيط في ساوث ورك , 
للمزيد من المعلومات او الارشادات بلغتك الاصلية  الرجاء زيارة ) مركز خدمات ساوث ورك ( والتقدم يطلب من ساوث ورك. 

  ل الصفحة.ساوثورك للخدمات في اسفالموظفين بتزويدكم بذلك. عنوان مركز 

এই দলিিপত্র টি সাউথারক পলরকল্পনা টিমের দ্বারা প্রস্তুত করা হমেমে। এই দলিিপত্র টি সাউথারক এর লিতমর 
জলেজোর ব্যব্হার, পলরকল্পনা এব্ং উন্নেন সক্রান্ত লসদ্ধান্ত সেুমহ প্রিাব্ ফেিমব্। আপনার িাষাে আফরা তথয লকংব্া 
উপমদশ ফপমত হমি অনুগ্রহ কমর একটি ‘আোর সাউথারক সালিি স পমেন্ট’ এ লিলজট করুন এব্ং আপনার প্রমোজনীে 
িাষার কথা স্টাে ফক ব্িুন। ‘আোর সাউথারক সালিি স পমেন্ট’ সেুমহর ঠিকানা এই পাতার ফশমষ ফদওো আমে।   
 

Ce document a été rédigé par l’équipe de planification de Southwark. Ce document aura des 
conséquences sur les décisions qui seront prises en matière d’utilisation de terrain, de 
planification et de développement à Southwark. Si vous avez besoin d’informations 
complémentaires ou de conseils dans votre langue, rendez-vous à un My Southwark Service 
Point {Point de Service Mon Southwark} et avisez le personnel de la langue qu’il vous faut. Les 
adresses des Points de Service Mon Southwark se trouvent à la fin de cette page.   

 

If you require this document in 
large print, braille or audiotape 
please contact us on 020 7525 5471.

107

www.southwark.gov.uk/planningpolicy


99 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

PortuGueSe

SoMalI

SPaNISh

tIGrINYa

YoruBa

Este documento ha sido creado por el equipo de planificación de Southwark. Este 
documento afectará a cualquier decisión que se tome sobre el uso de terreno, 
planificación y desarrollo en Southwark. Si requiere más información o 
asesoramiento en su lengua materna por favor visite Mi Punto de Servicio en 
Southwark (My Southwark Service Point) y comuníquele a los empleados la lengua 
que necesita. Las direcciones de My Southwark Service Point se encuentran al final 
de esta página. 

እዚ ሰነድ ብሳውዝዋርክ መደብ መውጽኢ ክፍሊ ዝተዳለወ ኢዩ። እዚ ሰነድ ንዝኾነ ውሳኔታት ብዛእባ ኣብሳውዝዋርክ  

ንዝግበር ኣጠቃቅማ መሬት; መደብ ኣወጻጽኣን ምዕባለን ክጸልዎ ኢዩ። ብቋንቋኹም ተወሳኺ ሃበሬታ ወይ ምእዶ እንተደኣ 

 ደሊኹም ናብ ማይ ብሳውዝዋርክ ኣገልግሎት ቦታ ኬድኩም ነቶም ሰራሕተኛ እንታይ ቋንቋ ከምትደልዩ ንገሩዎም። 

ማይ ብሳውዝዋርክ ኣገልግሎት ቦታ ዝርከበሉ ኣድራሻ ኣብዚ ገጽ መወዳእታ ኣሎ። 

 

 
Iwe yi ni ati fi se awon eto ikoshe fun Southwark.Iwe yi yoo ni pa ipinnu ti o yoo wa ni ya lori 
awon lilo ti ile, eto ati idagbasoke ni Southwark.Ti o ba ti ni ibeere alaye siwaju sii tabi imoran 
ninu ede, jowo sabewo a mi Southwark ise ojuami ki o si so awon opa ehat ede ti o beere. 
Awon adiresi ti awon mi Southwark ise ojuami ni o wa ni opin ti yi iwe.  
 

My Southwark Service Points:

walworth  376 Walworth Road, SE17 2NG

Bermondsey  11 Market Place ‘The Blue’, Southwark Park Road, SE16 3UQ

Peckham  122 Peckham Hill Street, Ground floor, London SE15 5JR

They are open Monday to Friday from 9am to 5pm.

Este documento foi produzido pela equipa de planeamento de Southwark. Este documento 
afetará decisões tomadas acerca do uso de espaço, planeamento e desenvolvimento de 
Southwark. Se desejar mais informação ou aconselhamento na sua língua mãe, por favor visite 
um serviço My Southwark Service Point (o meu ponto de serviço em Southwark) e informe os 
funcionários acerca da língua mãe que necessita. Os endereços do serviço My Southwark 
Service Point estão no final desta página.  
 

Warqaddaan rasmiga ah waxaa soo saaray kooxda qorsheeynta ee Southwark. Warqaddaan 
waxay saameeyn ku yeelan doontaa go’aannada laga gaari doono isticmaalka dhulka, 
qorsheeynta iyo horumarinta ee Southwark. Haddii aad dooneeysid macluumaad dheeraad ah 
ama talo-gelin ku qoran luqaddaada fadlan booqo Barta Adeegeeyga Southwark una sheeg 
shaqaalaha barta luqadda aad dooneysid in laguugu qoro. Cinwaannada Baraha Adeegeeyga 
Southwark waxay ku qoran yihiin dhamaadka boggaan. 
 

108



100 New Southwark Plan Preferred Option

109



www.southwark.gov.uk/fairerfuture

110

www.southwark.gov.uk/fairerfuture


 
 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MUNICIPAL YEAR 2015-16 
 
AGENDA DISTRIBUTION LIST (OPEN) 
 
NOTE: Original held by Scrutiny Team; all amendments/queries to Shelley Burke Tel: 020 7525 7344 
 

 
Name No of 

copies 
Name No of 

copies 
OSC Members 
 
 
Councillor Rosie Shimell (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Jasmine Ali 
Councillor Catherine Dale 
Councillor Paul Fleming 
Councillor Tom Flynn 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
Councillor Hamish McCallum  
 
 
Education Representatives 
 
Martin Brecknell 
Lynette Murphy-O’Dwyer 
Abdul Raheem Musa 
George Ogbonna 
 
Councillor James Barber 
 
 

 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
1 

Council Officers 
 
Eleanor Kelly, Chief Executive 
Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Norman Coombe, Legal Services 
Aine Gallagher, Political Assistant 
Niko Baar, Political Assistant 
Kaniko Mayi, Political Assistant 
Scrutiny Team SPARES 
 

 
 
1 
1 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
10 
 

Electronic agenda  (no hard copy) 
 
OSC Members 
Councillor Gavin Edwards (Chair) 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai 
Councillor Maisie Anderson 
Councillor Johnson Situ 
 
Reserves 
Councillor Evelyn Akoto 
Councillor Helen Dennis 
Councillor Nick Dolezal 
Councillor Eleanor Kerslake 
Councillor Sunny Lambe 
Councillor Adele Morris 
Councillor David Noakes 
Councillor Martin Seaton 
Councillor Bill Williams 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
Total: 27 
 
Dated: May 2015 
 

      
 

 


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	7 Southwark Plan
	New Southwark Plan – Preferred Option
	All
	Councillor Mark Williams, Regeneration and New Homes 
	Lead Officer
	Dated
	Key Decision?
	CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET MEMBER
	Date final report sent to Constitutional Support Services




	RECOMMENDATIONS
	APPENDICES
	AUDIT TRAIL

	New Southwark Plan (Consultation version - web version)

	 Blank page

